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Chairman’s Statement

To say 2020 was a challenging year would be an under-statement in so many ways. It was a very difficult situation to
manage for many in our industry but especially for those with complex offshore operations.involving workers travelling to
and from many places in the UKand the restof the world. To add to the challenge, global demand along with other external
factors caused commodity pricesin our sector to fall dramatically.

Setting aside the direct aspects of the pandemic and the roll-out of effective vaccines around the world, we have already
seen very strong signs of recoveryin terms of our sector.

Just a year ago, in April 2020, a barrel of Brent Crude, a standard indicator for a range of commodities, was trading at about
$25. At the time of writing the price is above $60 per barrel. Natural Gas prices have also recovered well.

In the same period, we have seen growing UK Government support, clearly displayed in the publication of the North Sea
Transition Deal which the Government announced during March 2021. This clearly recognises the importance of our sector
for the UK in terms of security of energy supply, tax receiptsand jobs; balanced with our ind ustry’s need to play our part

in the transition to a net-zero emissions future.

Linked to that, no statement describing ourindustry in April 2021 would be complete without reference to climate change
and plans to tackie the problems we face across the globe as a result of its effects. 2019 was the year the UK Government
led the world in being the first to sign into law a commitment to having a net-zero contribution to global greenhouse gas
emissions by 2050, following the recommendations of the independent Committee on Climate Change. At Deltic, we
support this position entirely and are fully committed to playing our partin the nextstage of the UK’s development.

This decision by the UK Government shifted the climate change argument from ‘the what and the why?’ in. 2019 into ‘the
how?’ in 2020. This in turn raised difficult questions.and caused sensible voices to emerge with solutions showing, among
other things, that natural gas is part of the solution and not part of the problem. Combined with hydrogen, carbon capture
and storage (CCS) and other technologies, natural gas, the single greatest contributor to UK total energy supply in 2019,
remains an important part of an affordable, reliable, low carbon energy mix for the foreseeable future. Clearly, a domestic
supply of this natural resource beats imported gas in terms of jobs, Treasury receiptsand environmental impact.

Deltic Energy has an excellentposition within this context: Planning of our first exploration well is underway at Pensacola
with Shell, a worldwide leader in Exploration and Production, as the Operator. Our CED, Graham, will cover this in more
detail but clearly this is a defining moment for our company as we prepare to drill prospects identified by Deltic. Further,
this is entirely in-line with our stated strategy of building a conveyor belt of opportunities from identification and
acquisition of assets through to discovery. Pensacola wiil be the first of many prospects to go through this process with
Selene not far behind and a series of other prospectsincluding Cadence, Cupertino and others under analysis by interested
parties. :
DocuSigned by:
Mart (agpin

46ABC1B2820945D...
Mar?( Lappin

Chairman

16 Aprit 2021
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Chief Executive’s Statement

The Company  continues to execute its natural gas focussed exploration strategy and has builta strategic position in'the
Southern North Seathrough a number of licensing rounds. Despite the challeriges presented by Covid-19, 2020 has been
a year in which Deltic has:continued to make significant progress with its licenceshaving been advanced and the overall
asset base:of the Company materially expanded and diversified.

We strongly believe that this. technically-led approach to portfolio development and an .increasing focus on’ natural gas
to support the energy transition will continue to deliver multiple opportunities-and create value for shareholdersin the
coming years. Over the last year; the:team has worked hard with:our partner Sheli to secure a positive weII investment
‘decision on the Pensacola Prospect and we are looking forward to drilling the Company’s first well there in 2022. At the
same:time, we continue t6 work towards delivering a positive well investment decision on-the Selene Prospect,

Pensacola & Selene

The decision to drill the Pensacola gas prospett followed a rigorous evaluation of the. new 3D data acquired in 2019 and
this positive outcorme fully.endorses ourtechnical work and abul;ty to identify. previously. missed opportunities:. One of the
other extremely positive. otitcomes from this-work Is the subsmntlal de-risking of the prospect:with the geological- chance
of success increasing from 20% (pre-3D seismic) to 55%. Wlth gross P50 Prospectnve Resources &stimated at 309 BCF, a
-successful outcorme on this high impact opportunity would bg transformational fof Deltic and could have positive read
across-to other prospects in the emergmg Zechstein Reef fairway, |ncludmg the large Plymouth Reef prospect on licence

P2428.

The Deltic-Shiell4V: has confirmed to the Oil and Gas Authority its intention to drill thé Pensacola well, now scheduled to-
be drilled in.May 2022 and it is intended that this rig slot will form part of a UK North Sea multi well drilling ¢ campaign by
Shell: With well costs and timings being firmed up, Deltic remains comfortably funded for its 30% share of well costs.

Following a year in which such inv’estment ‘decisions, ‘especially‘ in rel'ation to exploration, were .seve‘rely curtailed across.
the industry, this confirmation is particularly significant and represents the achievement of-a key milestone for Deltic.. We:
are excited to be entering this next phase of our partnershrp with Shell and look forward to further news:flow as we turn
our attention to well. plannmg and operatlonal matters in the run up to well drilling.. '

On the Selene prospect on Licence P2437, the: Company’s other JV wnt'h Shell, the partnership has continued to progress
the technical and commercial- workflows requiredto- support a well.investme nt decision. This detalled technical work has
enabled us to reporta material upgrade to the' estimated gas in place in.the .second half of 2020 ‘which has been further
refined such that we now estimate P50-Gas Initially In- Place (GItP) to be 661 BCF with P50 prospective resources-of 271
BCF. This work .has also further de- risked the: prospect with the: estimatéd geological chance of success having. been
significantly increased from 39% to 70% and confirms Selene’s position-as one of the la rgest and most attractive untested
prospects in this mature: Leman Sandstone fairway. :

As with Pensacola, itis highly encouraging and téstament to our technical team that the detailed‘work being undertaken
by the ‘Shell/Deltic. partnership is contmumg to ‘support the previous work completed by Deltic. The technical work is.
substantially- complete, and the JV is now focussed on project economics and well design' work requiredto support the
mvestment decmon with the well still expectedto be drilled in'the ‘course of 2022;.

Othérkey licences

Our technical team.continuesto produce exceptional work: across the portfolio as they. mature opportunities from the pre -
application ‘phase through to drillable prospéctsready for: farm-out

During 2020, significant progress was made on licence P2428 (Cupertino Area) following: the delivery of reprocessed
seismic data late in 2019. The new data allowed the Company to identify new prospects and- prowde a sxgmﬂcant resource.
update- on this licence. Three dlstlnct prospects in Plymouth, Richmond and Cupertino have been delineated in the
Zechstein, Leman sandstohe and the Carboniferous respéctivély. Each of the prospects has the scale and potential to be
commercial in their own right and with combined P50 prospective gas resources estimated at close to ‘1 TEF of gas
{equivalent to more than 150 million barrels:of oil), these prospects are highly material. in terms of- thelr scale both
mdlvcdually and collectively. A farm out process is now underway which has attracted- a sighificant level of interest and our
focus'now is.to seek to introduce the best possible partner to progress these prospects towards drilling.
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The Company has also recently completed the reprocessing of legacy seismic data across licence P2424, which contains
the Cortez prospects, and the interpretation and analysis is currently being completed by our technical team. The primary
target on this licence is now the Cortez South prospectwith estimated P50 prospective resources of over.300 BCF of gas.
Once interpretation and analysis has been completed, the Company will determine the best way forward in order to
progress this licence.

The Company’s Dewar oil prospect had attracted early interest, but as a direct result of the collapse in oil prices, which
remained depressed for much of 2020, this process was effectively put on hold. However, with the recentrecoveryin oil
prices, given the relatively straightforward development, proximity to existing infrastructure and attractive economics,
the company remains confident that a sustained recovery will allow the Company to complete a transaction and
introduce a partner which ultimately leads to the drilling of Dewar.

Expansion of portfolio/32" Licensing Round success

In September 2020, the Company was delighted to be able to confirm ahighly successful outcome in the UK’s 32" Licensing
Round with the award of six new licences coveringtwelve blocks and part blocks.

These newly awarded blocks are highly prospective and contain a variety of exploration prospects which will significantly
enhance both our pipeline of potential drilling opportunities and the overall prospective resources associated with the.
Company's assets. ’

All of the new licences were awarded to the Company on:a 100% basis, with the exception of one, which was jointly
awarded with Shell UK who hold a 70% working interest. Five of the six new licences awarded to Deltic are in the Southern
North Sea where the Company has now amassed a total of ten gas licences which when combined with its existing licence
position, further enhances the Company's strong strategic position in the gas basin.

I addition to expanding its ‘partnership with Shell to now include three licences, the Company was also delighted to be re-
awarded a licence over block 43/11 (and 43/12) which contains the Cadence prospect. This was a big win for the Company
given the TCF scale prospectivity and competition associated with this licence. With the benefit of the technical work that
the Company has previously completed on Cadence, we are in a strong position to progre ss this licence in a relatively short

timeframe.

The new licences reinforce the Company's North Sea exploration-focussed model which is based upon creating a steady
‘conveyor belt' of opportunities that can be progressed to support a long-term diversified programme of exploration wells.

Change of Name

In June 2020, we completed the change of the Company’s name to Deltic Energy Plc. The new name .and the associated
rebranding have been well received by our various stakeholders and symbolises the transition inour portfolio to a more
operational phase following our farm-outs with Sheil and the planned drilling activity.

Proposed bids

in July and September 2020, the Company received unsolicited approaches from two different companies regarding
" potential all share offers for Deltic. in both cases the Board concluded that the value implied by the offers materially
undervalued Deltic and its portfolio of assets, in particular its two high impact exploration wells expected to be drilled with
Shell and were not in the best interests of shareholders, Consequently, and following discussions with certain of the

Company’s largest shareholders, both proposed offers were rejected.

While being in an “offer period” during these times was both restricting and a distraction, we were encouraged by the
level of support received from the Company’s shareholders and we believe the decision not to proceed with the offers
has been borne out by both the subsequent operational progress made by the Company and also the significant increase
in the market value of Deltic since then.

Financial/funding

With continued strict financial discipline coupled with additional decisive steps to reduce expenditure and preserve cash
throughout 2020, the Company maintained a strong balance sheet with cash of £12.0 million as at 31 December 2020.
Crucially, our.company remains well funded and debt free.
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Outlook

With commodity prices back at pre-COVID levels, we are starting to See strong signs of recoveryin the UK North Sea with
significant: M&A activity in the first few manths of 2021, and many projects which were deferred in 2020are expected to
be restarted during this.year. Asthe global roli-out of vaccines gathers pace and companies start to look to the future of
energy and the transition to a lower carbon future, | am increasingly confidentin the outlook for our Company.

The recent publication of the UK Government's Energy White Paper clearly recognises ‘the important role that
hydrocarbons, and especially gas, have to. play in the transition: to a lower carbon future. The mdustry as a'whole is
supportivé of thé Government’s ‘net zero’ ambitions and. Deltic’s gas-focussed. éxploration portfolio in the Southern No#th
Sea has'a key role to play in'that transition through the potential supply 6f natural gas to hydrogen projects in. the North
East of England and Bacton where.Shell operatesits gas tefminal. The production of ‘blue’ hydrogen from natural gas is
predlcted to dominate. the hydrogen economy until ‘the late 2040s before ‘green’ hydrogen production technologies may
become commerually competitive.

With- UK gas demand more than double current domestic gas production, the prioritisation of local UK produced natural
gas’is key to the development of the hydrogen economy and: to facilitate the energy transition: Not only will domestic:UK
production dlsplace much hlgher carbon |nten5|ty lmported LNG, it will support UK employment and- allow’ the UK. to‘
contlnue to benéfit:sign |f|cantly fromthe North Sea’s’ sngmfcant remamlng reserves. :

At Deltic we have a strong focus on gas and specifically the Southern North Sea gas basin where ten of our thirteen licences:
are located. With gas clearly being'a key component of the energy mix for many decades to come, we. believe the
fundamentals for gas remain strong: In addition, the UK remains oné of the most attractive Jurlsdlctlons for oil-and gas
investment due to ‘its stable operating environmeént, existing infrastructure, a transparent licensing process and
competitive tax regime,.and.we expect this to influence the investment decisions of many established companies as they
look to lower the carbon intensity of their global E&P portfolio. Against-this. backdrop, | believe Deltic is well placed to
benefit from its'high quality, strategic licence position-and gas-focussed asset base with netresources of over 500 mmboe.

Looking ahead, throughout 2021 and following the well commitment on Pensacola, we will be waorking closely with Shell
throughout the well planning phase and progressing’ towards.a well investment decision on Selene while at the same

time continuing to progress the: exciting prospects on the Company’s other licences such as Cupertmo Cortez, Dewar
“and the recently awarded Cadence licence; all of which should stimulate newsflow throughout the courseé of this yéar.:
Looking further ahead to 2022, Deltic is in the unique position of Having two high impact wells expected to be drilled.
with an outstanding partner in Shell, with successon either being-transformational for our company.

A key part of 2020 was adaptifig to a new working ‘enviroriment'and coritinuing to-build our business whilé: also ensuring

.the wellbeing of our staff: | believe we have been.successfulin meeting that -challenge and | would therefore like to take

‘'this opportunity to thank all the members.of our small, focussed team for-the hard work, dedication and resilience they

have demonstrated as well as our other stakeholders, in particular our partners and- -shareholders; for their ongoing
support as we enter this’ excmng phase and seek to créate value for our shareholders

DocuSigned hy‘

Eémlw« S wwb,U,s

. ASSERED10874A
Graham Swinc efls

'C_hlef Executive Officer

16 April 2021
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Operational Review

Introduction

Despite the significant adjustment in working practices brought on by the global COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has
continued to make significant progress across its gas-focussed exploration assets including a significant expansion in the
number of licencesand gross acreage it holds following an extremely successful outcome in the 32nd offshore licensing

round.

The team has worked closely with our partners at Shell throughout the year as we built towards the positive well
investment decision on the Pensacola prospect and near-term well investment decision on Selene. In addition, the
technical work required to support the farm-out process on licence P2428 (Cupertino area) identified significant- new
prospects in the proven Leman Sandstone (Richmond prospect) and the Zechstein Reef (Plymouth prospect), which has
caught the imagination of a number of our peers.

The strategic contiguous acreage position of >2,700km2 that we have built in the heart of the Carboniferous and
Zechstein play fairways over the last few years will continue to be the focus of our technical work and will continue to
deliver.a conveyor belt of high-quality gas prospects as we apply our deep geological knowledge of the area to improved
legacy datasets over the coming year.

P2252 - Pensacola (30% Deltic non-operated)

The majority of 2020 was focussed on the re-processing of new 3D seismic data acquired over the Pensacola prospectin
the summer of 2019. While a number of interim products were made available by Shell during the 3rd quarter of 2020,
further advanced depth processing workflows were required before a final product was eventually deliveredin January
2021.

A reinterpretation of the prospecthas confirmed our views on the potential volumes of gas associated with the Pensacola
prospect with Deltic estimating gross P50 Prospective Resources of 309 BCF (103 BCF netto Deltic). This re-interpretation
of the new 3D seismic, when taken in combination with regional work on analogous fields across Europe completed by
the Operator, has significantly improved our understanding of the Pensacola prospect, which in turn has allowed us to
update the prospectvolumetrics and significantly increase the Geological Chance of Success (GCoS) associated with the
prospect.

Deltic now estimates the Pensacola prospect contains gross P50 Prospective Resources of 309 BCF with a P90-P10 range
of 39 BCF to 1,181 BCF with a GCoS of 55%.

On 29 March 2021; it was announced that the Shell-Deltic JV had confirmed its intention to drill the Pensacola well to
the OGA and subsequently the contingent well commitment became firm on 31 March 2021.

The Operator expectsthe well to be drilled in May 2022 with this timing allowing the Sheli/Deltic JV to take advantage
of a drilling unit that will be contracted by Shell as part of a multi-well drilling campaign which inturn brings advantageous
day rates and operational efficienciesfor the JV.

Deltic is fully funded for its 30% working interest in this well and we look forward to supporting Sheli in their role as
Operator throughout the year.

P2437 - Selene (50% Deltic operated)

Working jointly with our partners at Shell throughout 2020 has resulted in the JV having a significantly better
understanding of the Selene prospect through detailed assurance of the velocity model, basin modelling and analogue
reviews. This led to a significant increase in in-place resource and GCoS which was announced on 11 August 2020 where
estimated PSO Gas Initially In Place (GIIP) was reported as 629 BCF with a GCoS of 70%. This confirmed Selene’s status
as one, if not the, largest untested prospect in the world-class Leman Sandstone fairway.

Since then, work has focussed on defining the potentially recoverable resources associated with the Selene prospect
based on a review of potential production scenarios and the performance of other fields inthe areawith similar reservoir
characteristics. The outcome of this work has resulted in a slightly revised view on both GlIP and recoverable gas and as
such the Company now estimates gross PS5O Prospective Resources of 271 BCF with a P90-P10 range of 83 BCF to 553
BCF. The GCoS remains unchanged at 70%.
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Weare currently working with Shellona preferredwell location, data collection programme and prehmmary well design
to support a well investment.’ decusron which we expect to occur in the néar term. We remain confident that this well

will: be drilled during-2022..
P2428 - Cupertino (100% Deltic)

During the course of the year, work was focussed on the re-interpretation and intégration of re-processed 2D:seismic.
data into the Company’s existing geological framework. The, pre-Stack Depth Migration (PSDM) re-processing of- the
legacy 2D data‘in 2019 resulted'in a significant uplift in image quality at all levels and supported a re-interpretation of
the.Cupertino prospectand the identification ‘of two further prospects.on the licence. Following completion of téchnieal.
work:on the reprocessed seismic, updated volumetrics and:riskirig for the Cupertino, Richmond and’ Plymouth prospects .
were ‘announced on23 November2020angd confrmed combmed PSQ Prospective Resourcesin excessof 900 BCF with
prospect GCoS ranging from 19% to 26%.

‘The Cupertino prospectis a large three-way dip and fault sealed prospectwith potential for stacked sandstone reservioirs:

in the early Carbonifefous Scremerston and Yoredale' Fgimatiohs.. Thesé reservoirs aré proven producers within -the
basin".and key trap elements including intra-Carboniferous. top seal and fault seal W|th|n low net-to-gross fluvial
sequences are proven in other discoveries and fields. The: Cupemno prospect is estimated: to contain P50 Prospectlve-
Resourcesof 370 BCF with a GCoS of 26%:

’The‘chhmond'«prospecti_s a Leman Sandstone’ prospectwith: many genetic similarities to the giant Cygnus gas field which
‘is-located some 50km to the south west. The-prospect has "been overlooked historically due to the previous operator’s
musrdentlf’catlon of the Leman ‘Sandstone as older Carboniferous rocksin a number of legacy wells oh'the. periphery of
the licenced acreage. This. three—way drp andfault-sealed structure js estrmated to contain P50 Prospective Resources of
211 BCF and have a GCoS of 20%. Both Richmond and ‘the deeper Cuperting prospect could be evaluated with a srngle

-exploration well.

The Plymouth prospect is a reefal build-up of the 22 Zechstein carbonate which is analogous to the Crosgan discovery:
and the .Pensacola prospect which the Company: is due to drill with Shell'in 2022. The delineation of the Plymouth

prospect has only been made: possnble by the:recent reprocessmg of the Iegacy 2D'seismic data completed by Deltic

which preserved slgmﬁcantly more low frequency seismic- -data.and highlighted internal structures within the Zechstem

WhICh were not vrsrble on the légacy data. The Plymouth prospectis estimated to contain PSO Prospectiveé Resourcesof
282 BCF with a GCaS-of 19% which we anticipate: could be: significantly improved following.acquisition of 3D seismic over

this areain the same way as the GCoS on the Pensacola prospectwas. upgraded based.on new data.

A fo’rm'al farm-out process'was 'comm‘e‘nc'ed‘i'n December 2020 and there has been a significant level of interest from
established opérators working withiin the UK Continental Shelf {UKCS) with multiple pames ‘active in the dataroom. Given,
the, prospects identified on'the Cupertlno block are imaged. on mixed vintagé' legacy 2D-seismic data; we. antrcrpate that
the: acqulsmon ‘of'3D data over the licence area; erI be a priority for any potential partner, with. a. future well decision.
aided by the mterpretatnon of that new 3D seismic data:

P2424 - Cortez (100% Deltic)

Durmg 2020, the work programme on the Cortez licence focussed on the reprocessmg of - legacy 2Ddata on-the western
part ofthe licence WhICh fills'a gap. between 3D seismic data ‘coverage. Intotal, more than 650 kllometre lines of data
were re-processed to'pre-SDM and significant mprov_ement_s were achieved in the post:salt stratigraphy” with less uplift
‘seenin the pre-salt section which'was to-be expected given;the vintage of the original data-and relatively.short cable.
lengths used dunng acqulsmon The data was delivered to Delticin December 2020,afew months later than antrcupated
due to utlhsanon ofa more' advanced workflow to try and improve pre -salt imaging-and.some general inefficiencies due
to remote working| forced upon Deltic and its contractors by the currentCOVID pandemic.

Work has commenced on the.re- ihterpretation and integration of this new seismic data with the primary focus being on'
the Cortez South prospectwhich is'similar to'the Cupertlno and Cadence prospects located on contiguous’ Ilcencesto the:
east: Cortez. South is currently'estimated to-contain P50 Prospectlve Resourcesof 331 BCF and have.a GCoS of 28%; but.
we expect'this to increase as we. continte. to integrate. the newly reprocessed seismic data ‘and learnings from the

Cupertino.area into the local geol’o,g_ical' model.
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P2435 ~ Blackadder {25% Deltic non-op)

Operated by The Parkmead Group, the Blackadder licence has remained largely in a ‘care and maintenance’ state
throughout 2020. We will continue to work with the licence Operator to assess the technical and commercial viability of
the Blackadder prospect and expect to take a decision on the future of this licence during 2021. Deltic holds a minority
(25%) non-operated position in licence P2435.

P2352 - Dewar (100%)

The Dewar prospectin the Central North Sea was effectively placed on ‘care and maintenance’ at the start of the COVID-
19 pandemic due to the volatility of the oil price environment during this period which resulted in significant uncertainty
for many of those companies that had been participating in the farm-out process at the time. With the recovery of
commodity prices and many companies now indicating a more positive outlock for exploration over the next 12 to 18
months, we will look to re-engage with those parties that were previously active in the dataroom as well as additional
parties that have expressed an interest and explore potential pathways to getting the Dewar prospect drilled.

327 Round Awards

Six new licences awarded to Deltic in the 32nd Offshore licensing round became effective on 1st December 2020. Five
of these licence awards were made on a 100% basis to Deltic with the sixth licence located to the north and east of the
* Pensacola licence being awarded jointly with Shell.

This successful licensing round has allowed us to consolidate a strategic position in the Southern North Sea where we
now hold a contiguous acreage position of approximately 2,730km2 that extends from the gas fields in the Tolmount
area in the south west, to Breagh in the north and towards Cygnus in the east (both of which are large producing gas
fields) and coversidentified play fairways in the Carboniferous, Zechstein and Triassic, Bunter Sandstone.

The most recentawards included the re-acquisition of the Cadence area across block 43/11 which forms a key link along
the same highly prospective structural trend which includes the Crosgan discovery and Breagh In the west and runs
through Cortez (P2424) through the newly awarded Cadence area (P2567) through to the Cupertino area (P2428)
awarded in the 30th licensing round.

Three of these new licencesform a significant contiguous acreage position in an underexplored part of the basin located
between the Tolmount and Breagh gas fields. Although relatively immature in terms of our detailed understanding of
this area we believe that there is potential in the Carboniferous, Leman Sandstone and the Zechstein and a significant
legacy dataset that will respond well to modern re-processing workflows.

In addition to the five licences awarded in the Southern North Sea, Deltic was also awarded a single licence inthe Central
North Sea. Licence P2542is located in a highly prospective area on the flanks of the Arbroath-Montrose high between
the Glengorm discovery and the Carnoustie and Montrose fields. The licence contains the Syros oil prospect which will
be evaluated during Phase A of the licence.

Future

While most people will, quite rightly, be focussed on the drilling activity on the Pensacola prospect, and potentially
Selene, in 2022 the Company’s subsurface team is already looking beyond this activity to future wells. The immediate
focus is on the farm-out processes for the Cupertino, Cortez and Cadence licence areas which have the potential to
support a significant level of exploration activity including the acquisition of new seismic data. and the drilling of wells in
the coming years.

In recognition of the move towards ‘Net Zero’ operations in the basin, the Company will look to demonstrate the
importance of a gas-focussed portfolio as we transition towards a lower carbon future. The ability to combine a
significant natural gas resource with new approaches to production infrastructure, such as electrification, while making
the most of existing pipelines, onshore facilities and the potential to support emerging blue hydrogen and carbon capture
and storage (CCUS) projects could result in future production from Deltic’s portfolio having a lower CO2 intensity than
hydrocarbon production from other areas within the UK and significantly lower than that for imported gas and liquefied
natural gas (LNG).

Portfolio and Resource Summary ~ April 2021

The Company’s currentlicence portfolio and prospectinventory, as of the end of February 2021, is summarised below:
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Southern North Sea

Licence
Ref:

p2252!

P2428

P2424

l
;
f
’

P2567

P24352

P22581

P2560

P2561

' P2562

Net Prospective Resource

Deltic Discovery (D) {BCF)
) ' Project ID Prospect (P GCoSY
oc Equity rose ospect (P) P90 P50 P10 0S%
Lead {L) X
Low Best High
41/32, Pensacola - Zechstein
-Ze i )
41/10a 30% P 12 93 354 55
Reef
& 42/1a
Sloop - Leman D 4 9 19 100
Selene - Leman P 41 135 276 70
48/8b 50%
Endymion - Leman L 18 24 31 27
Rig & Jib - Leman L 7 i8 29 35
Cupertino - Scrémerston P 92 370 1134 26
43/7
& 100% Richmond —Leman P 62 211 547 20
43/8 .
Plymouth - Zechstein P 32 282 1267 19
Furasta - Bunter D 7 18 30 100
Burbank - Bunte P 7 20 32
42/14 & urban| unter 0 0 567
b 100%
42/15 Cortez - Carboniferous L 24 107 433 29
Cortez South - L 129 331 732 28
Carboniferous
Cadence - Scremerston P 30 143 472 26
Cadence - Fell L 188 454 861 16
43/11
& 100% | Cordova-— Millstone Grit L 32 124 329 26
43/12b
Bassett — Bunter Sst P 36 128 303 37
Bathurst — Bunter Sst L 119 275 571 22
Bob (Teviot} - Leman D 2.8 5.5 10.3 100
47/10d
& 48/6¢ 25%
i Blackadder - Leman P 17.8 28.3 425 45
Sb :
434/1:‘ 30% Pensacola North To Be Determined
42/13b
42/178& | 100% To Be Determined
42/18
42/19 & 100% To Be Determined
42/20b )
42/22 & .
42/23 100% To Be Determined
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2 0perated by Parkmead

Central North Sea

Licence

«Refr

L«Block ID ..

CLNR

Equity =

: ---:‘Pi-ojeé't 1D
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P2352 22‘3;5 100% . el - pertiang o To be determined - mean STOIIP
/25¢ estimated @ 24 mmboe
l p2384 22/19f 100% | Manhattan Complex To be determined
’ 22/17a 100% | Syros To be determined

P2542

DocuSigned by:
@w/nw Maan,
1D03460168684E2...

AJNunn -

Chief Operating Officer

16 April 2021
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Operational Review
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Environment Social and Governance

Priorities and Supporting Policy Framework

As a responsible and,.diligent investor in hydrOGarbor_) exploration and appraisal assets, the Comparny recognises that-it
is in the best interest of our investors to incorporate Environmeéntal, Social and Governance aspects irito our investment
analysis, decision-making and portfolio management processes. in January 2020, the Company introduced a specificESG
Policy to support our existing Environment and Occupational Health and Safety Policies.

The Company s.pppo(tS'v‘the,‘ ZQSD'N'et Zero EmjssfonfS target set out’ |n law by the UK governmentiand th‘e,ambiti'oU$ OGUK
Roadmap 2035.which aims to see the E&P industry in the UK reath Net Zero well ahead of general UK targets. These
targets acknowledge the 5|gn|f|cant role that natural gas will play in achieving Net Zero: and Deltic’s gas focussed'
exploranon portfolio has the potentAaI ‘to underpm the: vutal role that natural gas will undoubtedly play in blue hydrogen
production over the next two to three decades.

Durin'g 2021 our focus will turn to the development. of the various procedures to. support standardised reporting of
various metrics around health and safety performance and climate related emissions performance in-line with the
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) standards.

In addition -to danmg the extent of existing Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. associated with ‘the Companies' current
activities, we intend to commission: an mdependent study. reviewing the potential future: development options for our
Southern North Sea exploration portfolio including the range of potential technologlcal engineéring and commercual
options: that existto minimise. the carbon intensity of these futire developments and demonstrate the compatibility of-
low carbon intensity natural gas'developments with.the Net Zero targets set out by the UK -government. '

‘We recognise that this is a. rapidly changing playing field but in compliance with Oil and Gas Authority Stewardship
expectations the Company. will initiaté full reporting in line with appropriate and emerging guidance in nextyear’s annual
report.

Health & Safety Performance:

The health and safety of our:staff, contrattors and other stakeholders. is a key focus as, we continué to grow the business.
and our operational scope: There were no.reportable incidents or LTI's reported in conjunction with the-Company’s
activities in-2020..

The-Company records health and safety performance and statistics in compliance with the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases
and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR]). '

2020 2019 T 72018
First Aid Incidents 0 ' 0 ' 1
Lost Time Injuries (1-7 days) 0 0 0
RIDDOR Reportable . 0] 0 0
Fatalities 0 0 0
Estimated Total Work Hours | 9390 110095 9640

Climate Related Emissions and Energy Performance

As a non-producing office based organisation with no operated on non-operated offshore. acflwty in the 2020 reporting
period, the- magnltude of climate related emissions;associated with the Company’s actlvutles is limited. OGA mandatory
reéporting of Fugitive Methane Emissions, Scope 1and 2 emissions’ per barrel of oil equnvalent production’and Carbon
Intensity Statements are not' relevant to the Company at this stage of its development however the Company will
undertake to [estimate] / monitor its annual total Scope 1 (Direct from gas combustion on site and vehicle fleet) and
Scope 2 (Indirect from electricity purchased) until such time that the OGA defined metrics are applicable.

Currently the Company has 4 negligible Scope' 1 emissions footprint and Scope 2 .emissions. are limitéd to. electricity
fequired to support office based activities at our registered office. Thé Company. moved its registered office.in Apnl 2020.
and monthly electricity consumption figures have.-been.extrapolated from measured consumption to give.an estimated:
annual consumption figure for 2020.
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Financial Review

All. major expenditure in theé last five years has been focussed on' the development of the Company’s portfolio .of
converitional North Sea assets in accordance with the Company’s investing policy, in addition to on-going administrative
expenditure.

Loss for the year

The Companhy incurred aloss for the year to 31 December 2020 of £1,665,575 (2019: £2,360,248). The prior year included
a£801,307 charge resultmg from the impairment of intangible assets following the relinquishment of Licence P2248. This
occurred following the fallure of the: preferred bldder on Licence P2248 to demonstrate the: necessary financial-
capacity to fund the forward work programme within a timeframe ‘that. was acceptable to the Oil and Gas Authority
(OGA); resultiig in the ‘initial term of the licence expiring and the.Company being required to relinquish the licence
with effect from 29 March 2019. Durmg the currentyear, the Company has beenre-awarded the same. 43/11 block which
contains the Cadence prospectas part of its new licence (P2567). The previously- capltallsed value, whlch was written off
in 2019, has a covmvmercvlal value to the Company and the extensive work previously carried-out on the Licence will be used
to progtess the licence towards drilling: However, under IFRS6 a previously d'ere';Eanised_ asset cannot result in a reversal
of a-previously recognised impairment  charge. ’ '

Administrative expensesof £1,699,344 (2019: £1,709,069) were .incurred during the year. The current administrative
expense‘sinciu‘de costs associated with two unsuccessful takeover approaches that the Company received. Even with:
these -one-off costs,. administrative. expenses were less than the previous year reflecting cost savnngs, which were’
communicated earlierin the year, associated with exercise'of a-break clause on its office and relocatlon to smaller, lower-
‘cost space and management of contractor costs.

Finance income of £59,818 (2019:-£7’1,020_) éle,creésed‘due*to-'lower,'i'nferest-bgaring deposits on surplus funds. Finance A
costs of £26,049(2019: £28‘;763).representthe interest charge on a lease liability recognised.

Finandal position .
The Coimpany’s cash was £11,968,858 at 31 December 2'02’0"(_201’9:_£'13,849,400)with the year-on-yeardecrease in cash
being explained below.

The increase in“ihta’rigiblhesass'ejtS to £1,430,915(2019: £1,127,942) reflécts the developmentofthe Company’s exploration
portfolio and in particular the technical enhancerments with Licence 2437 (Selene Prospect), Licence P2428 (Cupertino
Prospect) and. Licence P2424 (Coftez prospect) The Company was fully carried durlng the:year for costs associated with
the P2252 Licence (Pensacola Prospect).

Property, plant and equipment of £496,542 (2019; £47;313)includes a right of use asset relating to the office lease with
‘a net book value of £350,697 (2019: £33,545). Total liabilities, which include: short-term creditors, accruals and lease:
liabilities, increased to £246,041 (2019; £198,656).

The decrease in. total equity to £13,437,735 (2,,0149: £14,955,576) mainly represents the loss for the year and other
movements set out in the-Statemeént of Changes in Equity.

Global economic uncertainty
The Comipany is in @ position of relative:strength ir these uncertainglobal economic times. The Company is well positloned

to capture the recovery in gas prices, has no direct exposure to oil prices, has no debt and remains wel capltallsed’
following a fundraising in July 2019

Cash flow
I the year to 31 December 2020, the net cash- outflow from operating activities was £1,368, 117 (2019:£1,412 879) The
net cash outflow from investing activities was £458,740 (2019 £372,389), comprising £358, 672 {(2019; £895 647) related
to expenditure on exploration assets and £159,886 (2019 £6,426) relating to expenditure of propérty, plant and
equipment, and interest received of £59,818 {2019: £59, 54_9) The net cash outflow from financing activities was £53,685
(2019: £14,208,682, inflow), comprising the principal portion of lease liabilities and interest paid. The prior-year financing
activities related to the issue-of new ordinary shares. :

Consequently; in the year to 31 Decembér 2020, the Company experieiiced anet cash outflow of £1,880,542'(2019: inflow
of £12,423,414).
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Closing cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December 2020, the Company held cash and cash equivalents totalling £11,968,858 (2019: £13,849,400).

Shareholders’ equity
As at 31 December 2020, there were 1,405,964,855 (2019: 1,405,964,855) ordinary shares in issue. Additionally, a total

of up to 94,840,450 (2019: 88,308,192) new ordinary shares may be issued pursuant to the exercise of share options.

Going concern

The Directors have assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Although the oil and gas industry still
faces the challenges of COVID-19, fortunately, having taken the decision to raise funds in 2019 to protect itself from
market volatility, the Company is currently well funded with no debt. Based on the cash and cash equivalents balance at
year end and the Company’s commitments, the Directors are of the opinion that the Company has adequate financial
resources to meet its budgeted exploration programme and working capital réquirements,and accordingly will be able to
continue and meet its liabilities as they fall due for a minimum of 12 months from the date of signing these financial

statements.

Key performance indicators

At this stage in its development, the Company is focusing on the development of its North Sea gas and oil assets, applying
for additional licences, maintaining and extending existing licences, as well as the evaluation of various oil and gas
opportunities that may arise. The Directors closely monitor and manage the levels of overheads and other administrative
expenditure, exploration expenditure, cash and deposit balances, as set out above. As and when the Company’s
investments move into production, other key performance indictors (KPis) will become relevant and will be measured and
reported as appropriate.

DocuSigned by:

Sarale Meleod

T4AAB441158F44E...
Sarah Mcleod

Chief Financial Officer

16 April 2021
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Business Risks

Principal business risks

The Directors have identified the following current principal risks in relation to the Company’s future performance. The
relative importance of risks faced by the Company can, and is likely to change, with progress in the Company’s strategy
and developments in the external business environment, although these risks are currently similar to last year. The
Directors have considered the potential impact of Brexit on the Company and have concluded that the risks are not
significant. The Directors have also considered whether the ongoing COVID pandemic presents a risk to the business and
have again concluded that the risks are not significant.

Financial

The Company’s core riskis that its ability to effectively implement its business strategy and to continue as a going concern
over time depends on its ability to raise additional funds. The need for and amount of any additional funds required is
currently unknown and will depend on numerous factors related to the Company’s current and future activities. The
Company is likely to seek additional funds, through equity, or partnership arrangements, as it has successfully done in the
past. There can be no assurance that any such equity, debt or joint venture financing will be available to the Company ina
timely manner, on favourable terms, or at all. Any additional equity financing will dilute currentshareholdings. If adequate
funds are not available on acceptable terms, the Company may not be able to take advantage of opportunities, as well as
possibly resulting in the delay or indefinite postponement of the Company’s activities. Following the fundraising in June
2019, the Company is in a strong financial position for 2021 into 2022 and accordingly, the financial statements are
prepared under a going concern basis.

Strategic

Strategy risk

The Company’s strategy may not deliver the results expected by shareholders. The Directors regularly monitor the
appropriateness of the strategy, taking into account both internal and external factors, and the progress in implementing
the strategy, and modify the strategy as may be required based on developments. Key elements of this processare regular

strategy reviews, monthly reporting, and regular Board meetings.

Competition risk

The addition of exploration licences to the Company’s portfolio is subject to competition from other companies. Many of
the Company’s larger competitors have greater financial -and technical resources and are able to devote more to the
development of their business. The Company mitigates this risk by choosing where and when to deploy its business
development resources.

Operational

Exploration and development risk

Activities within the Company’s licences may not result in commercial development or otherwise realise value. There is no
certainty of success from the existing portfolio of licences. The Company seeks to mitigate the exploration risk through the
experience and expertise of the Company’s specialists, and the selection criteria used by the Company when identifying
prospective areas for licence applications. The Company also has an objective to seek additional exploration and
development assets, in order to diversify the Company’s portfolio of assets and hence risk.

Other business risks

In addition to the currentprincipal risks identified above and general business risks, the Company’s business is subject to
risks inherentin hydrocarbon exploration, development and production activities. There are a number of potential risks
and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Company’s long-term performance and could cause actual
results to differ materially from expected and historical results.

The Directors regularly monitor such risks, using information obtained or developed from external and internal sources,
and will take actions as appropriate to mitigate these. Effective risk mitigation may be critical to the Company in-achieving
its strategic objectives and protecting its assets, personnel and reputation. The Company assesses its risk on an ongoing
basis to ensure it identifies key business risks and takes measures to mitigate these. Other steps include regular Board
review of the business, monthly management reporting, financial operating procedures and anti-bribery management
systems. The Company reviews its business risks and management systems on a regular basis, and through this process,
the Directors believe they have identified the principal risks.
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Section 172 statement

Section 172.0of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and
other matters intheir decision making. The Directorscontinue to have regard to the interests of the Company's employees
and other stakeholders, the impact of its activities on the community, the environment and the Company's reputation for
good business conduct, when making decisions. In this context, acting in good faith and fairly, the Directors consider what
is most likely to promote the success of the Company for its members.in the fong term. We explain in this annual report,
and reference below, how the Board engages with stakeholders.

Likely consequence of any decision in the long term
The Chairman’s and Chief Executive's Statements at pages 3-6 in this Annual Report, set out the Company's long-term

rationale and strategy.

Interests of Employees
The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement at page 22-24 of this Annual Report sets out under board responsibilities

the processesin place to safeguard the interests of employees.

As a result of the work-from-home direction from the UK Government that was in force for much of 2020, provision has
been made for remote-working by employees. The Board has also considered how employee working practices will develop
beyond the COVID crisis - in particular, how more flexible and efficient ways of working seen during 2020 could be retained.

Further information is also provided in the Environment Social and Governance statement at page 14-1S'of this Annhual

Report.
)

Foster business relationships with suppliers, joint venture partners and others '
Potential suppliers and joint venture partners are considered in the light of their suitability to comply with the Company’s
policies.

Impact of operations on the community and environment
The Company has no currentoperations that impact upon the community or environment. However, the Company has a
commitment to ensure future operations are conducted with as limited as possible environmental impact.

The Company regularly reviews its Health, Safety & Environment (‘HSE') and other policies and works responsibly with
suppliers, and performance is monitored on an on-going basis.

Maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct
The Corporate Governance section of this Annual Report at pages 22-24 sets out the Board and Committee structures and
extensive board and committee meetings held during 2020, together with the experience of executive management and

the Board and the Company's policies.arid procedures,
Act fairly between stakeholders

The Board regularly reviewsthe Company’s principal stakeholders and how it engages with them. This is achieved through
information provided by management and by directengagement with stakeholders themselves.
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Investing Policy

In addition to. the development of.the North Sea gas licencesthe Company has acqunred to date; the Company proposes
to continue to -evaluate other potential oil and gas projects in line with its investirg: policy; as it aims to,build a portfolio of
resource assets.and create value for shareholders. As dis¢losed in the Company’s AlM Admission Document in May- 2012,

the Company’s substantlally implemented Investment Policy is as follows:

The proposed irvestments to be made by the Company may be.either quoted-or:- unqbbted made by directacquisifion or
through. farm=ins; either in companies, partnerships or joint ventures; or directinterests i in oil & gas and mmmg projects.
It is not intended. to ‘invest or trade. in-physical commodities ‘except where such ‘physical ‘commadities form part of a
producing asset. The Company’s equity interest in‘a proppsgd investment may range from a minority position to 100%
.ownership.

The Board initially intends to focus.on pursuing pro;ects in the oil & gas and mining sectors, where the Directors believe
that a number of - opportunmes exist to acquire interests in attractive projects: Particular consideration will be givento
ldentofyln_g investments .which are, in the opinion -of the Directors, underperforming, undevelopéd and/or under valued,
and wh‘er_é the Directors believe that their expertisé and experience can be deployed to facilitaté growth and unlock.
inherentvalue.

The Ccmpény will conduct ‘initial due: diligence appraisals of potential projects and; where it is bEﬁeved fUrfher"
investigation’ is' warranted, will appoint’ approprlately qualified persons to assist with this. process, The Directors are
currentlyassessmg various opportunities which may prove suitable although; at this stage, only preliminary due diligence
has beéénundertiken.

It is likely fhat ‘the ‘Company’s financial résources will be invested’in either'a small number of projects or one large
investment which may be deemed to be a.reverse takeover under the AIM Rules. In every case, the Directors inténd to
mitigate riskby undertakmg the appropriate due diligence and transaction analysns Anytransaction constituting'a reverse
takeover-under the AIM Rules will also'require Shareholder approval.

Investments: in early stage -and exploration assets are expected to be mainly in the form of equity, with debt being raised
later to fund the development of such:assets. Investments in later stage projects are more likely.to include an element of
debt to equity gearing:. Where.the Company builds a portfolio of related assets,. it is possnble that there may be cross
holdlngs between such assets..

The Company intends:to. be ‘an ;involved and. active. investor. Accordlngly, whére ‘necessary, the- Company may seek
participation in'the.management orrepresentation on the Board of an entity in.which'the Company invests: with.a view to
iimproving the perférmarice and use of its ‘assets. in such ways as should resultin an upward re -rating of the value of those

.assets.

Given the timeframe’ the Directors believe is required to: fully maximise. the value of an exploration project of early stage
development asset, itis expected that the investment will be held for the medium to. long term, although disposal of assets
in the:short. term cannot be ruled out in exceptional circumstances,

The Companiy intends to deliver Sharetiolder returns principally through capital g_{'o_wth rather:than capital distribution via
dividends, although it may become appropriate to distribute funds to'Shareholdersonce the investment portfolio matures
and production revenues are ‘established.

Given the nature of‘t‘h.e Investing Policy, the Company doesnot iritend to make regular périodic disclosu’(es‘o'r calculations
of its net asset value.

The Directors consider.that as investments are made, and new investment opporfunities arise, further funding of the
Company will be required..

This'strategic réportcontains certain forward- Iooklng statements that are subjectto the usual risk factors and uncertamtles
associated: with the cil-and gas exploration and production business. Whilst the Directorsbelieve the expectation’ reflected
herein to be reasonablé ‘in light of the information_available up to the time of their approval of. this report, the actual
outcéine may be materially different owing to factors either béyond the Company’s control or otherwise within the
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Company’s g:phtrol- but, forexample, owing:to’a change of plan or'strategy. Accordingly, no reliance may: be placed on the
forward-looking statements.

On behalf of the' Board

—DocusSigried by: DocuSigned by:

Mart: (agpin. Graliam Swindulls
TG ARSI
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
16 April 2021 ' _ 16 April 2021
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Corporate Governance

Chairman’s introduction

As Chairman of the Cempany, | provide léadership; ensuring that the Board is performing its role}.effe'ctive'ly, and has the
capacity, ability, structure and support to enablé it to continue to do-so.:

As an AIM quoted-company, the Company has chosen to follow' the Quoted Companies Alhance s (“QCA”) Corporate’
Governance Code 2018 (the ‘QCA Code’) published in April 2018 The Board recognises the. value and importance of high
standards of corporate governance and believes that this prowdesthe most-appropriate framework fora company of our
size and stage of development.

This Governance section of the Annual Report provides an update on our Corporate Governance policy, and Includes the
Audit Committee Report, Remuneration Committeé Report and. the Directoré’ Re port. In thesé reports wé set out our
governance structures and explain how we: have applied the QCA Code-and where'we have departedfrom the code during’
the year The QCA Code |s 'set -out in. detail on the Companys websute at wwwdeltucenerev com/lnvestor—
vern lncludlng an explanatmn as to how the Company addresses the ten ‘key governance

prmcnples def'ned |n the QCA Code

In May 2019;-the.,C0mpany appointed me as independenft non-executive Chairrn_an. My extensive Oil & Gas technical and
:commercial experience including the three yyears | previously served as an independent non-executive director of the.
Company.underpin my. effectlveness in this role as the Company enters its next stage of development :

Corporate Governhance Statement

‘Board responsnbllltles

The Board i is reésponsible to the Comipany’s shareholders for the: leadershlp, control and management of the Company. It
is responsible for the lohg-term success of the Company and for ensuring its approprlate management and operation in
pursuit of its objectives.

The Board is in constant communication and meets regularly. Its’ responsnbllmes include:
e Setting the Company’s strategy ’
. Determmlng policiesand values
° F.stabhshmg and maintaining the Company’s :system of internal control and revrewmg effectiveness annually
* Identifying’ the.major. business risks faced by.the Company and determmmg approprlate risk-management
* Investing decisions
*  Fundraising decrsuons
e Management-appointments

Whilst there is.a formal :schedule of matters specifically reserved for approval by the Board; the two executive directors
‘have beengiven responsrblllty for specific functional aspects of the Company’s affairs.

The Board seeks to maintain the hlghest standards of‘integrity - and problty in the: conduct of the Companv’s activities.
These values are .enshrined in the written policies and working pracuces adopted by all employees. An open culture is
encouraged within thé Company, with regular communications to ‘staff regarding. progress and staff feedback ber_ng
regularly sought. This is especially important as asmall company, in order to fully harness its human. capital in pursuit of
the effective development of the Company’s assets, and so achieve the objectives and strategy .set out in the Strategic
Report and to seek to mitigate the. risks and uncertainties described in the Business Risks section of the Strategic Report:

" The executive directorswork closely with the small number of employges, so the Board is well placed to assess it's culture.
The Board are prepared to take appropriate .action against unethical behaviou#, violation of company policies or
misconduct.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises four Directors; of whom two are executive and two are non-éxeécutive. The Directors are all
identified on page 27, together with a summary of their curréntand past experience, skills and personal qualities.
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Non-executive Chairman

As Chairman, Mark Lappin oversees the adoption, delivery and communication of the Company’s corporate governance
model and is responsible for ensuring that it is maintained in line with appropriate practice and policies agreed by the
Board. He is also the Company’s ‘leading ambassador, which includes presenting the Company’s aims and policies to
investorsrand other outside parties. He promotes active communication with shareholders and other stakeholders,
including speaking regularly with investors and other stakeholders. He chairs the AGM and as chairman of the Board, he
chairs Board meetings, ensuring that the Board regularly reviews the Company’s strategy. He also oversees the
composition and structure of the Board which involves regularly reviewing the overall size of the Board, the balance
between executive and non-executive, age, experience, skills and personalities of the Directors.

Non-executive Directors

The two Non-executive Directors (Mark Lappin and Peter Cowley) have a responsibility to challenge independently and
constructively the performance of management and to help develop proposals on strategy. They sit on the Remuneration
and Audit committees, enabling them to have a role in determining the pay and benefits of the executive directors, to
review internal control and financial reporting matters, and to have a direct relationship with the external auditors.

Independence and Commitments

The two Non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to be independe nt of management. The Board believes that
they continue to demonstrate an independence of character in the performance of their roles as Non-executive Directors.
Their director’s fees are fixed, and they do not benefit from share option awards.

The Directors are expected to attend Board meetings, meetings of Board Committees of which they are members, annual
general meetings, and any other shareholder meetings convened from time to time.

All Directors have disclosed any significant commitments outside their respective duties as Directors and confirmed that
they have sufficient time to discharge their duties.

Appointments

The Board believesthere is an appropriate balance of skills, knowledge and personal qualities on the Board, which provides
a wide range of expertise on issues relating to the Company’s mission, operations, strategies and its standards of conduct.
The Chairman of the Board monitors the suitability of the Board’s composition on a continuing basis and will make
recommendations to the Board as and when appropriate.

Board support and external advice

Internal management is available to the Board to ensure all Board and Committee meetings are conducted properly and
procedures are in place for distributing meeting agendas and reports so that the Directors receive the appropriate
information to be discussed in a timely manner. The Directors each receive reports which include monthly finance and
management results and operational updates from the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer. Board minutes are taken by internal management and circulated for approval at the next meeting. The
Company Secretary assists the Board by maintaining statutory registers and filings and assisting with organising
shareholder general meetings.

Aside from the Directors’ stated roles, the Board members do not have any particular internal advisory responsibilities.
Where it considers it necessary to do so, the ‘Board and Board committees may utilise external professional advisers to
provide advice and guidance on any matter where they consider it prudent to seek such advice, at the Company’s expense.
No such external advice was sought during the year.

Board performance evaluation

The Board evaluates its performance as a whole, informally on an ongoing basis. This falls under the overall responsibility
of the Chairman, taking into account the Financial Reporting Council’s Guidance on Board Effectiveness. There have been
no recommendations concerning the Board structure arising from the Company’s Board appraisals over the year ended 31
December 2020.

Board meetings

The Board meets formally a minimum of eleven times a year, excluding Board committee meetings. The table below sets
out the total number of meetings held by the Board and its Committees and records of attendance by each member eligible
to attend during the year ended 31 December 2020:
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Board meetings Audit committee! Remuneration committee?
Possible Attended Possible Attended Possible Attended
G C Swindells 14 14 3 3 - -
A JNunn 14 13 - - - -
SM MclLeod 14 13 3 3
P N Cowley 14 12 3 3 2 2
M'S Lappin 14 14 3 3 2 2

10nly Non-executive Directors are entitled to vote in the meetings of these Board Committees.
Other senior members of the management team and external advisors will attend, at the invitation of the Board, and as

appropriate to the matters under discussion.

Board committees

The Board has established an audit committee, remuneration committee and AIM compliance committee with formally
delegated duties and responsibilities, as described below. Each committee’s terms of reference are included on the
Company’s website.

Audit committee

The audit committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing
significant financial reporting issues, reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk management
systems, monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function and overseeing the relationship with the external
auditors (including advising on their appointment, agreeing the scope of the audit and reviewing the audit findings).

The audit committee comprises Peter Cowley and Mark Lappin and is chaired by Peter Cowley. The audit committee aims
to meet at appropriate times in the reporting.and audit cycle and otherwise as required. The audit committee also meets
regularly with the Company’s external auditors. .

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee is responsibie for determining and agreeing with the Board the framework for the
remuneration of the Chairman and the executive directors and, within the terms of the agreed framework, determining
the total individual remuneration packages of such persons including, where appropriate, bonuses, incentive payments
and share options or other share awards. The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is a matter for the chairman and
the executive members of the Board. No Director is involved in any decision as to his or her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee comprises Peter Cowley and Mark Lappin and is chaired by Peter Cowley. The remuneration
committee meets at [east twice a year and otherwise as required.

AIM compliance committee

The AIM compliance committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with its obligations under the AIM
Rules for Companies (“AIM Rules”) and the Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation EU 596/2014) (“MAR”) and, in particular
makes timely and accurate disclosure of all information that is requiredto be disclosed to meet its disclosure obligations
arising from the admission of its shares to trading on AlM and, under MAR.

The AIM compliance committee comprises Graham Swindells, Mark Lappin, Andrew Nunn and Sarah Mcleod. The AIM
compliance committee meets as and when required, in order to undertake its responsibilities.

Share dealing code X

The Company has adopted a share dealing code for the Directors, persons discharging managerial responsibilities and
applicable employees of the Company for the purpose of ensuring compliance by such persons with the provisions of the
AIM Rules relating to dealings in the Company’s securities (including, in particular, Rule 21 of the AIM Rules and MAR). The
Directors consider that this share dealing code is appropriate for a company whose shares are admitted to trading on AIM.

On behalf of the Board
Dncl.l$§gn:ﬂ by:

Mark (agpin.

Chairman

16 April 2021
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Audit Committee Report

Overview
The audit committee met three times during the year. The external auditor, BDO LLP, also attended the meetings at the
invitation of the audit committee chairman.

Financial reporting

The audit committee. monitored the integrity of the annual financial statements and reviewed the significant financial
reporting issues and accounting" policies and disclosures in the financial reports. The external auditor attended the audit
committee meetings as part of the full year accounts approval process. The processincluded the consideration of reports
from the external auditor identifying the primary areas of accounting judgements and key audit risks identified as. being
significant to the 2020 financial statements.

Audit committee effectiveness

Although no formal review of the effectiveness of the audit committee has been undertaken, the Board and the chairman
of the audit committee believe this to be satisfactory. The chairman of the audit committee will continue to assess whether
such a formal review would be appropriate or otherwise, however, itis currently not considered necessary.

External audit

The audit committee is responsible for managing the relationship with BDO LLP, the Company’s external auditor since
being appointed in 2012. The objectivity and independence of the external auditors. is safeguarded by reviewing the
auditors’ formal declarations, monitoring relationships between key audit staff and the Company and reviewing the non -
audit fees payable to the auditor. Non-audit servicesare not performed by the auditor if this would have a material effect
on, or relevance to, the production of the Company’s financial statements and/or involve taking decisions or making
significant subjective judgements that should be the responsibility of management. During the year, amounts paid.to BDO
LLP for audit services totalled £22,500 (2019: £20,500) and £3,495 (2019: £7,303) for non-audit services. These non-audit
services were performed by ateam separate from the audit team, did not involve any subjective judgements and a member
of the Company’s management was identified as taking responsibility for the services provided.

Internal audit

In light of the size of the Company and its current stage of development, the committee did not consider it necessary or
appropriate to operate an internal audit function during the year.

Pt Lot
P N Cowley
Chairman, Audit committee

16 April 2021
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Remuneration Committee Report

The remuneration committee reviews the scale and structure of the executive directors’ remuneration and the terms of
their service contracts.

The remuneration and terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-executive Directors are set by the Board.

The remuneration committee met-twice during 2020 in consideration of:, changes in remuneration, share option awards,
bonus awards-and 2021 objectives.

During the year there were no changes to the Company’s pay and employment conditions and all director salary changes
and bonuses were approved by the remuneration committee. A major independent, executive reward company, Mercer
Kepler undertook a benchmarking exercise during 2019 on the Company’s senior executive and board’s remuneration and
this was used in detérmining appropriate salaries and bonuses.

_Although no formal review of the effectiveness of the remuneration committee has been undertaken, the Board and the
chairman of the remuneration committee believe this to be satisfactory. The.chairman of the remunération committee
will continue to assess whether such a formal review would be appropriate or otherwise.

P

P N Cowley. _ '
Chairman, Remuneration committee

16 April 2021.
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Board of Directors

There isan appropriate breadth of experience, skills and personal qualities covering the key aspects of the business including
technical, operational and financial. Although the Board are of the opinion that a lack of gender balance has not thus far
impacted its capabilities, actions to address this remain under consideration. It is the responsibility of each Director to keep
skills up to date with the assistance of the Chairman who has a core responsibility in addressing the development needs of
the Board as a whole, with a view to enhancing its overall effectiveness.

Mark Lappin

Non-Executive Chairman

Mark-has more than 35 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. Mark joined Delti¢ Energy as non-executive directorin
2016 and became Chairman in May 2019, Prior to that Mark was Technical Director at Cuadrillaand Subsurface Director for
UK and Netherlands at Centrica. Mark began his career at Phillips Petroleum and has held senior technical and commercial
roles with ExxonMobil and Dart Energy. Mark is also a Visiting Professor at University of Strathclyde Centre for Energy Policy
in Glasgow. ’ :

Mark’s extensive technical, commercial and senior management experience in the oil and gas sector ensures that he has
the ability to support the executive directors, challenge strategy and decision-making, scrutinise performance and to
perform his role as Non-Executive Chairman as the Company entersits next stage of development. Mark is also @ member
of the Company’s audit, remuneration and AIM compliance committees.

Graham Swindells

Chief Executive Officer

Graham Swindells joined the Company in May 2013 as.Chief Financial Officer and became Finance Director later that
year. He joined the Company from Ernst & Young where he was a Director in Public Company M&A. Graham graduated
from the University of Glasgow with a Bachelor of Accountancy Degree and after qualifying as a Chartered Accountant
spent two years at PricewaterhouseCoopers specialising in corporate recovery and restructuring. He subsequently
specialised in corporate finance, becoming a director in corporate finance at Arbuthnot securities during which time he
focused on advising and broking small and mid-cap public companies across various sectors, but with a particular focus
on natural resources, Graham became Chief Executive on 1 March 2018. Graham is chairman of the Company’s AlM
compliance committee,

Graham’s professional, commercial and finance experience ensures that he has the necessary ability to develop and
implement the Company’s strategy, undertake fundraising, and oversee the management of the Company.

Andrew Nunn

Chief Operating Officer

Andrew Nunn joined the Company in May 2014 and was appointed to the Board as Chief Operating Officer in December
2014. Andrew is a Chartered Geologist with over 20 years of experience working on exploration, mining and geo-
environmental projects in Europe; Australasia and Africa. For the last 10 years he has worked on a wide variety of UK
and European conventional and unconventional gas projects with a primary focus on Carboniferous aged reservoirs.
Andrew’s previous role was as Exploration Manager for Dart Energy. He holds a B.Sc. (Hons) in Economic Geology and
an M.Sc. in Environmental Management. Andrew became a Director of the Oil and Gas Independents’ Association
(OGIA) in February 2020. Andrew is amember ofthe Company’s AIM compliance committee.

Andrew’s technical and operational experience and professional qualifications ensure that he has the necessary ability
to lead and manage the Company’s technical development and operational matters.

_Peter Cowley
Non-Executive Director
Peter Cowley is a geologist with over 50 years of international experience inthe minerals industry and has been involved
in the discovery and development of a number of gold mines in Africa. Peter was previously Managing Director of Ashanti
Exploration Limited, Group Technical Director of Cluff Resources Plc, CEO of Banro Corporation and is currently President
and a Director of Loncor Resources Inc. He holds M.Sc. and M.B.A. degrees and is a Fellow of .M.M.M. Peter is chairman
of the Company’s audit and remuneration committees.

Peter’s many years of technical experience and senior management positions in publicly listed companies ensure that he
has the ability to support the executive directors, challenge strategy and decision-making, and to scrutinise performance.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report with the financial statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December
2020.

Prindpal  Adtivity
The Company’s principal activity is the exploration, evaluation and development of mineral exploration targets, with a
principal focus on the development of its gas and oil licences in the Southern and Central North Sea.

Review of Business
The Company changed its name on 23 June 2020 from Cluff Natural Resources Plc to Deltic Energy Plc.

Further details of the Company’s business and expected future development are also set out in the Strategic Report
starting on page 3, commencing with the Chairman’s Statement.

Dividends
No dividends will be distributed for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and their beneficial interest in the ordinary shares and share options of
the Company at 31 December 2020 are set out below:

Ordinary shares Share options

2020 2019 2020 2019

M'S Lappin 1,174,887 586,391 - -
G C Swindells | 2,394,836 894,836 38,654,096 38,654,096
A J Nunn 806,724 806,724 38,654,096 38,654,096
P N Cowley 1,018,489 1,018,489 - -
5,394,936 3,306,440 77,308,192 77,308,192

Diretor’s Remuneration
The following table sets.out an analysis of the pre-tax remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020 for the
individual Directors who held office in the Company during the year.

2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
Salaries and Bonus? Pension  Benefits in Total Total

fees payments Kind
£ £ £ £ £ £
G C Swindelis 196,880 40,000 19,688 3,932 260,500 229,264
AJNunn 184,575 40,000 18,458 2,435 245,468 215,918
P N Cowley 24,583 - - - 24,583 20,000
M S Lappin 49,166 - - - 49,166 32,151
455,204 99,073 38,146 6,367 579,717 682,586

1£40,000 bonus payment paid to each of G C Swindells and A J Nunn which related to 2019 performance but paid in
January 2020.

Share options
The share-based payment of £126,404 (2019: £164,663) to Directors represents the share-based expense relating to

unvested share options during the year.

The following share options table comprises share options held by Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2020:
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Options held Options held
at 31 Options Options at 31
December grantedin  exercisedin December Exercise Exercisable Exercisable
2019 period period 2020 price(p)  from to
G C Swindells 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 1.75 8July 2022 8 July 2029
07 June
9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 2.32 07 June2019 2028
30 April
2,200,000 - - 2,200,000 3.75 30 April 2015 2024
10 June
7,454,096 - - 7,454,096 1.325 10June 2017 2026
A J Nunn 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 1.75 81July 2022 8 July 2029
07 June
8,200,000 - - 8,200,000 232 07June2019 2028
22 May
3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3.88 6 Sept2015 2024
10 June
7,454,096 - - 7,454,096 1325 10June2017 2026

Further details of share-based payments are set out in note 20.

Fnandal Instruments
Details of the use of financial instruments by the'Company are contained in the Strategic Report and note 18 of the

financial statements.

Subsequent Events
Events subsequent to 31 December 2020 are set out in note 21 to the financial statements on page 57.

A summary of the principal and general business risks can be found in the Strategic Report on page 18 and in note 18
to the financial statements.

Key Performance Indictors

At this stage 'in its development, the Company is focusing on the development of its North Sea gas and oil assets,

applying for new licences, maintaining and extending existing licences, as well as the evaluation of various oil and gas.
opportunities. The Directors closely monitor certain financial information, in particular the levels of overheads and
other administrative expenditure, exploration expenditure and cash and deposit balances, as set out in the Financial
Review. As and when the Company moves into production, other financial, operational, heaith and safety and
environmental KPls will become relevant and will be measured and reported as appropriate.

Disdosure of Information to Auditors

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies
Act 2006) of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and each Director has taken all the.steps that he ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the

Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, BDO LLP, have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors, and a resolution to re appoint

them will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf ofthe Board

/G/V 7 (//[/
Graham Swindells
Chief Executive Officer
16 April 2021
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in-accordance with International Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under Company law the Directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. The Directors are-also required to prepare financial
statements in-accordance with the ruies of the London Stock Exchange for companies trading securities on the
Alternative investment Market (AIM).

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

e Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e State whether they have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

* subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

e Prepare the financial statemeénts on the going concern basis unless itis inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsibie
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence fortaking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Website publication

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Annual Report and the financial statements are made available on a
website. Financial statements are published on the Company’s website in accordance with legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in
other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website ‘isthe responsibility of the Directors. The
Directors’ responsibility also extends to the on-going integrity of the financial statements 'contained’ therein.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Deltic Energy Plc

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

-~ give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its loss for the year
then'ended;
* have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the

requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and _
* have been preparedin accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial staté ments of Deltic Energy Plc (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 December 2020 which
comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements. section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remain independentof the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Condusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

e Weobtained the directorsformal assessment of the Company’s going concern position, which included cash flow

forecasts for the period up to 30 June 2022;
e Wecompared the Company’s plans for exploration activities as stated in their assessment against the information

obtained from discussion with the Company’s senior geological staff.
e We reviewed the terms of the Company’s exploration licenses for any committed works;
o Planned costs for general and administrative expenditure were compared to prior year actual costs, and expected

developments.
e The sensitivity of cash flows included in the forecast was reviewed, in particular the potential for overrunon the

expected share of well drilling costs.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for ap eriod

of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respectto going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Key audit matters

KAM

2020

Carrying amount
of exploration and
evaluation assets.

2019

Carrying amount
of exploration and
évaluation assets.

Materiality

Financial statements as a whole

£60,000 (2019:£50,000) based on 1.75% (2019: 1.75%) of total assets,
adjusted for cash balances outside of working capital requirements

An overview of the scope of our audit

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Company and its erivironment, including the Company’s system
of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the
risk of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors
that may have represented a risk of material misstatement. All the audit work was undertaken by BDO LLP.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resourcesin the audit, and directing the efforts of the engageme nt team. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

How the scope of our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Carrying
amount of
exploration
and
evaluation
assets

The
Company’s
exploration
assets
associated
with seven
licences
representthe
principal
assets. on the
Company’s
statement of
financial
position.
(Refer to note
10)

The Company has farm-out agreements
in place with Shell UK. Limited (“Shell”)
in respectof its licencesP2252,and
P2437,as described at note 10.

During 2020, the Company was awarded
six new licenses as part of the UK Oil and
Gas Authority’s (“UK OGA”) 32nd
licensing round.

Management's impairment. review did
not note any indications of impairment

Given the inherent judgement involved
in the assessment of whether there are
indications of impairment to the
carrying amount of exploration and
evaluation assets, we considered the
carrying amount of exploration assets to
be a key audit matter audit.

e We reviewed the licence documentation to satisfy
ourselves that the licences remained valid at 31
December 2020, as well as to confirm the dates of expiry
and licence obligations.

o . We evaluated the review by considering factors such as:
the licence status and expiry date together with the
history of licence extensions; the required work
programme. including the associated commitments and
obligations; and internal and external feasibility studies.

e We vouched the issue of the six newly awarded licenses
to supporting correspondence from the UK OGA, and
confirmed the Company’s title to all of its licenses to the
register on the UK OGA website.

¢ We considered the progress of the Company’s technical
work to date on its licences, together with budgeted
works, against the licence extension obligations and due
dates.

Key observations:

We found management’s assessment that there were no
indicators of impairment at the reporting date to be
appropriate.
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Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the ¢ourse of the audit, we are required by
the Companies Act2006 and 1SAs (UK) to report.on certain opinions and matters. as described below.

Strategic report | In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in thé course of the audit:

and Directors’ | e the information given in the Strategic reportandthe.Directors’ reportfor the financial year:for
report which the financial statements- are preparedis consistent with: the financial statements; and
| e the Strategic teport and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements:

1 In the light of the knowledgé ard understanding of,th’e Company and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report.or
the Directors’ report.

Mattérs “on' | We have nothing to réportin respectof the following matters: in relation to which the Companies
which we are | Act 2006 requiresus to reportto you if, in our opinion:

required ‘to '

report by’ .+ adequate accounting.records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit-have
excéption not beéenreceived from branches not visited:by us; ar

o the financial statements are notin-agreement with the accounting recordsand returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by-law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations we:require for our audit..

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors® Responsibilities set out on page 30the Directors'are responsible for
the preparation of the: Fnancual statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for suchinternal
.control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraudor error. ‘

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors.are responsible for assessing the Company’s- ability to continue as'a
going.concern, disclosing, as apphcab|e matters related to going concernand using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company-or-to cease operations, or have .no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements :as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not aguarantee that an audit conductéd.in accordance with ISAs
.(UK) ‘will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to mfluence the ‘ec onomic
‘decisions of users take_n on the basis 6f these financial statements.

Extent to which- the audit was capable of detecting irregilorities,. ‘including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design précedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detectmaterial misstatements in respectof irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

s We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicablé to the Company. We
determined that the most significant whith are directly rélevant to:specific assertions in the finarcial statements
are those related to the reporting framework (IAS, the Companies Act 2006. AIM rules and the QCA Corporate
Governance Codg), and terms and requirements included.in the Company’s exploration and'evalqation, licenses..
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e We understood how the Company is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making enquiries.

to management, and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our enquiries

through our review of board minutes and other supporting documentation.

e We performed procedures to verify the title and carrying value of the Company’s exploration licenses as

described in the Key Audit Matter.

° Testing the appropriateness of journal entries made throughout the year by applying specific criteria to detect
" - possible irregularities or fraud.

» We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team, and remained alert to any indication

of non-compliance throughout the audit.

Our audit:procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the fihancial statements,, recognising
that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one résulting
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealmentby, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion.
There are inherent limitations_in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected’in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware
of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:

www.frc.orguk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report : : y

This reportis made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act2006. Our audit work has beenundertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
requiredto state to them.in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the [C‘ompany and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

7L Dy

Jack Draycott (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK

16 April 2021

‘BDO LLP is a limited liability bartnership registered in England and Wales {with registered number 0C305127).
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Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
Continuing operations - £ £
Administrative expenses:
impairment of intangible assets 10 - (801,307)
Other administrative expenses (1,699,344)  (1,709,069)
Total administrative expenses (1,699,344)  (2,510,376)
Other operating income . 10 7 - 107,871
Operatingloss (1,699,344)  (2,402,505)
Finance income 4 59,818 71,020
Finance costs 5 {26,049) {28,763)
Loss before tax , 6 (1,665,575) (2,360,248)
Income tax expense . 8 .- -
Loss for the year ‘7 ) ) (1,665,575) (2,360,248)
Loss per share from continuing operations
expressedin pence per share:
Basic-and diluted : , 9 ___(012)p (0.24)p
Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2020
2020 2019
£ . £
Lossfor the year (1,665,575)  (2,360,248)

Other comprehensiveincome - .

Total comprehensive expense for theyear attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (1,665,575)  (2,360,248)

The notes on pages 40 to 57 form part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
) £ £

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets , 10 1,430,915 1,127,942
Property, plant and equipment 11 496,542 47,313
Other receivables v 12 37,422 -
Total non-current assets 1,964,879 1,175,255
Currentassets
Trade and other receivables 12 53,887 129,577
Cash and cash equivalents .11,968,858. 13,849,400
Total current assets 12,022,745 13,978,977
Tota assets 13,987,624 15,154,232
Capital and reserves attributable tothe equity holders of the Company
Shareholders’ equity o .

- Share capital .13 7,029,824 7,029,824
Share premium 20,296,030 20,296,030
Share-based payment reserve 20 990,378 842,644
Accumulated retained deficit (14,878,497) (13,212,922)
Totd equity 13,437,735 14,955,576
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other.payables 15 153,436 172,869
Lease liabilities 16 92,605 25,787
Total current liabilities 246,041 198,656
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 16 303,848 -
Total non-currentliabilities 303,848 198,656
Total liabilities 549,889 198,656
Total equity and liabilities N © 13,987,624 15,154,232

The financial statéments of Deltic Energy Plc, registered number 7958581, were approved. by the Board of Directors
on 16 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

%M/A

Graham Swindells
Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 40 to 57 form part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Share Share Share-based Accumulated Total
capital premium payment retained equity
reserve deficit
£ £ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2020 7,029,824 20,296,030 842,644 (13,212,922) 14,955,576
Comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year - - - {1,665,575) (1,665,575}
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (1,665,575). (1,665,575)
Contributions by and distributions toowners
Share-based payment - - 147,734 ~ 147,734
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - 147,734 - 147,734
Balahce at 31 December 2020 7,029,824 20,296,030 990,378 (14,878,497) 13,437,735
Balance at 1 January 2019 2,690,866 10,286,493 749,487 (10,932,012) 2,794,834
Comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year - - - {2,360,248) (2,360,248)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (2,360,248) (2,360,248)
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Issue of share capital 4,338,958 10,802,138 (79,338) 79,338 15,141,096
Expenses of issue - (792,601) - - (792,601)
Share-based payment - - 172,495 . - 172,495
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 4,338,958 10,009,537 93,157 79,338 14,520,990
Balance at 31 Decerhbt!r 2019 7,029,824 20,296,030 842,644 (13,212,922) 14,955,576

The notes on pages 40 to 57 form part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
£ £

Cash flows from operating activities’
Loss before tax (1,665;575)  (2,360,248)
Finance income’ _ (59,818) (71,020)
Finance costs 26,049 28,763
Income. from farm-out of licence interest 2,783 (107,871)
Depreciation 106,029 110,469
Amortisation . 6,711 9,735
Impairment of intangible assets - 801,307
Share-based' payment 147,734 172,495
‘ (1,436,087)  (1,416,370)
(Decrease)/increasein other receivables 38,270 (17,106)
Increase in trade and other payables 29,700 20,597
Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,368,117) (1,412,879)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets (358,672) (895,647)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (190,108) (6,426)
Property, plant & equipment landlord contributions 30,222 -
Proceeds from farm-out of exploration licence interest - 470,135
Interest received 59,818 59,549
Net cash outflow from investing activities (458,740) (372,389)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds of share issue - 15,141,096
Expenses of share issue - (792,601)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (27,635)  (111,050)
Interest paid . . : _ (26,050) (28,763)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities - ' (53,685) 14,208,682
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,880,542) 12,423,414
Cash and cash equivalents ‘at beginning of year ) . 13,849,400 1,425,986
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year = . ) » 11,968,858 13,849,400

The notes on pages 40 to 57 form part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1. AccountingPolicies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards. in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and -with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to

companies reporting under IFRS.

On 27 September 2019, the Company incorporated a subsidiary, Cluff Natural Resources Limited (previously Deltic
Energy Limited), a company incorporated in England and registered at 15 Floor, 150 Waterloo Road, London, SE1 8SB.
This subsidiary has been dormant from theé date of incorporation and was dissolved on 5t January 2021. As it is not
material for the purpose of giving a true and fair view, the Company has not consolidated its subsidiary, taking
advantage of the exemption available under the Companies Act 2006 section 405, and has therefore not prepared
consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity"with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets- and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstance, the result of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from this
estimate. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity; or where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed later in this note.

Operai:ing loss is stated after charging and crediting all items excluding finance income and expenses.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period or in the period of
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Going concern

The Directors have assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Although the oil and gas industry still
faces the challenges of COVID-19, fortunately, having taken the decision to raise funds in 2019 to protect itself from
market volatility, the Company is currently well funded with no debt. Based on-the cash and cash equivalents balance at
year end and the Company’s commitments, the Directors are of the opinion that the Company has adequate financial
resourcesto meet its budgeted exploration programme and working capital requirements, and accordingly will be able to
continue and meet its liabilities as they fall due for a minimum of 12 months from the date of signing these financial
statements.

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
The Company has adopted the following standard amendment in the preparation of these financial statements. No
material changes have arisen as a result:

Effective period commendng
on or after:

IAS 1: Amendments to IAS 1 and AS 8: Definition of Material 1 January 2020

Standards effective in future periods

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existirig standards have been published that are relevantto
the Company’s activities and are mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods commencing after 1 January 2021 or
later periods and which the Company has decided not to early adopt. These include:
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Effective period commencing

on or after:
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current&. ) .
. L . i : 1January 2023
Disclosures of Accounting Policies
Amendments to IAS 8: Definition 6f Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to © [FRS 3 Business Combinations; © IAS 16 Property, Plant and :
Equipment; « IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets-e Annual 1 January 2022

improvements 2018-2020

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform —Phase 2

Amendment to IFRS 16: Covid 19- Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020

1 January 2021

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Companys accounting policies for the
first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement:

There are no standards and interpretations in issue but not yet adopted that the Directors anticipate will have a material
effect on the reported income or net assets of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 based on current
, activities. :

Share-based payments

Equity-settied share-based payments to employees and Diréctors are measured at the fair value of the equity
instrument. The fair value of the equity-settléd transactions with employees and Directors is recognised as an expense
over the vesting period. The fair value of the equity instruments is determined at the date of grant, taking ‘into .account
market-based vesting conditions and non-vesting conditions. The fair value of goods and servicesreceived is measured
by reference to the fair value of options.

The fair values of share options are measured using an appropriate valuation methodology. The expected life used in
the models is adjusted, based on management’s bestestimate of the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions
and behavioural considerations.

The cost of equity-settled transactions: is recognised, together with a corresponding: increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the daté on which the relevant employees
(or other beneficiaries} become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”}.

The cumulative expense recognised for, equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company‘s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will uitimately vest.

The Income Statement charge or creditfor a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon
a market condition or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. Where
the terms of an equity-settled ‘award are modified, the minimum e‘xpensé recognised is the expense as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair value:
of the share-based payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to-the employee, as measured at the date of
rmodification.

Where an equity-settled award (share options) is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation
if it had not yet fully vested, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if
a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

Where an equity-settied award is forfeited, the cumulative charge expensed up to the date of forfeiture is credited to
the Income Statement. Upon expiry of an equity-settled award, the cumulative charge expensed is transferred from
the Share-based payment reserve to the Accumulated retained deficit.
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impairment of exploration assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed regularly for indicators of impairment following the guidance in IFRS 6
‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’ and tested for impairment where such indicators exist.

‘In accordance with IFRS 6 the Company considers the following facts and c1rcumstances intheir assessment of whether
the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets may be impaired:

e  Whether the period for which the-Company has the right to explore in a specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

e  Whether substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation .of mineral resources in a specific
area is neither budgeted nor planned;

o Whether exploration for and evaluation of reserves in a specific area have not led to. the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineable material and the Company has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; and

e Whether sufficient data exists to indicate that although a development in a specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely to be recoveredin full, from successful
development or by sale.

If any such facts or.circumstances. are noted, the Company, as a next step, pérform an impairment test in accordance
with the provisions of IAS 36. In such circumstances the aggregate carrying value of the exploration and evaluation
asset is compared against the expected recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount is
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. The Company assesses each licence as a separate cash-
generating unit. In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 6 the level identified for the purposes of assessing the
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for impairment may comprise one or more cash-generating units.

Any impairment arising is recognised in the Income Statement for the year.

Leases
The Company assesses whether-a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.

Leases with an original term not exceeding 12 months and low value leased items continue to be accounted as
previously, with amounts payable being charged to the income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all other lease
arrangements in which itisthe lessee. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. if this.rate cannot be

readily determined, the lessee uses its.incremental borrowing rate.
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the Balance Sheet.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflectthe lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the [ease liability (and makes .a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)

whenever:
e The lease term has changed in which case ‘the lease hablllty is remeasured by dnscountmg the revised lease

payments using arevised discount rate.
e The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a

guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting ‘the revised lease
payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change-is due to a change in a floating

interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
* Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case

the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using arevised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement: of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at

or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which
itis probable that an outflow of economic resources will result, and that outflow can be reliably measured.

Exploration and evaluation assets
Pre-licence costs associated with exploring or evaluating prospects are written off as incurred to the Income Statement.

All costs associated with exploring and evaluating prospects within licence areas, including the initial acquisition of the
licence are capitalised on a project-by-project basis pending determination of the feasibility of the project. Costs
incurredinclude appropriate technical and administrative expenses but not general overheads. When a decision is
made to proceed to development, the related expenditures will be transferred to proven projects. Where a licencé is
relinquished, a project isabandoned, oris considered to be of no further commercial value to the Company, the related
costs are written off.

Upon farming out an exploration licence the Company, as the farmor, designates expenditure previously capitalised in
respect of the licence to the partial interest retained. Cash consideration received for the farm-out is offset-against the
.carrying value by the farmor, with 'any excess above the previously capitalised expenditure being accounted as a gain
on disposal. Thereafter, the farmor capitalises its own share of subsequent expenditure and does not recognise the
share of expenditure incurred by the farmee.

The recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable
reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing to complete the development of reserves and future
profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of recoverable reserves.

Intangible exploration and evaluation asséets are not depreciated and are carried forward, subject to the provisions of
the Company’s impairment of exploration and evaluation policy, until the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting hydrocarbons are demonstrable. At such point exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment and any impairment charge is recognised before reclassification of the assets to a category of property,

plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at
rates calculated to write: off the cost less the estimated residual value of each asset over its expected useful economic
life, The residual value is the estimated amount that would currently be obtained from disposal of the asset if the asset
were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The annual rate of depreciation for each class of depreciable asset is:

Leasehold improvements over léase term
Office lease over lease term
Fixtures & fittings 15%
Computer equipment 25%

The carrying value of property plant and equipment is assessed annually and any impairment is charged to the. income
statement.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable result for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
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and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is.reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled, or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferredtax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company
intends to settle its currenttax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks.

Cash equivalents comprise bank deposits held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments that are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to a
notice period up to a maximurn of 95 days.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial-asset expire, or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when itis extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do. not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
e amortised cost
e fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
o fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCi).

In the periods presented the Company does not have any financial assets categorised as FVTPL or FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:
e the entity’s business mode| for managing the financial asset
o the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expensesrelating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs,
finance income or other financial items.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions:
e they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its: contractual
cash flows
s the contractual terms of the: financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding
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After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivablesfall
into this category of financial instruments.

The Company assesses the expected credit losses on a forward-looking basis, defined as the difference between the
contractual cash flows and the cash flows that are expected to be received, associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For
trade receivables only, the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 is applied, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the. receivables. Losses are recognised in the income statement. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment to decrease, the decrease in impairment is reversed through the

income statement.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs.
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

.All interest-related charges are included within finance costs or finarice income.

Equity
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the
‘definition of a financial liability. The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.

For the purposes of the capital management disclosures given in note 19, the Company considers its capital to be total
equity.

Foreign currendes

The functional currency of the Company is Sterling. Transactions denominated in currenciesother than the functional
currency of the Company are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities are translated into the functional currency at the closing rates of exchange at the reporting date.
Exchange differences arising from the restatement of monetary assets and liabilities at the closing rate of exchange at
the reporting date or from the settlement of monetary transactions at a rate different from that at which the asset or
liability was recorded are dealt with through the income Statement.

Critical accounting estimatesand judgements

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, which by definition will seldom result in actual
results that match the accounting estimate.. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a.
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Judgements

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (note 10)

Qualifying exploration and -evaluation costs are initially classified and held as intangible assets rather than being
expensed. In recording costs as exploration and evaluation assets, judgement is required as to the extent to which the
costs are attributable to the discovery of specific hydrocarbon resources and include both internal and external costs.
Expenditure is capitalised by reference to appropriate Cash Generating Unit (‘CGU’) and is assessed for impairment
with reference to IFRS 6 indicators of impairment. This assessment involves judgement as to the status of licencesand
the likelihood of renewal of licences which expire in the near future including the ability to meet licence obligations,
budgets and plans for future exploration activity and expenditure, the results of exploration activity, and assessments

of future recoverable values upon development.

Where impairment indicators are identified, an impairment test is performed which requires judgment regarding
factors such as:
(i) The timing of future development of the asset;
(i) Funding structures and financing costs of development;
(i) Commercial development opportunities for extracting value from the asset; and
{iv) Modelling inputs such as the appropriateness of discount rates, reserve and resource estimates, oil and gas
pricing predictions, etc.
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The carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets were assessed for indicators of impairment at 31 December
2020. In forming this assessment, the Company considered external and internal competent person’s reports, the
status of the licences, the extent of ongoing exploration activity and steps to secure farm-in partners and other
financing which supported the carrying value.

No indicators of impairment were identified at 31 December 2020. As detailed in note 10, following the relinquishment
of Licence P2248, an impairment charge of £801,307 (being its carrying value) was recognised in 2019. During the
current year, the Company has been re-awarded the same 43/11 block which contains the Cadence prospect as part
of its new licence (P2567) by the OGA. The previously capitalised value, that was subsequently written off in 2019, has
a commercial value to the Company and the extensive work previously carried out on the Licence will be used to
progress the licence towards drilling. However, under IFRS6 a previously derecognised asset cannot resultin a reversal
of a previously recognised impairment charge. Accordingly, Licence P2567 will be recognised in the financial
statements at the cost of acquiring the new licence and eligible exploration and evaluation work performed
subsequent to the date the licence was acquired.

Estimates

Determination of share-baséd payment costs (note 20)

The determination of these costs is based on financial models. The inputs to these models are based on the Directors’
judgements and estimates and are not capable of being determined with precision. Estimates were required including
the expected life of the option and volatility. In addition, management were required to assess the extent to which the
minimum share price vesting criteria would be met and the most likely period over which those criteria would be met.

Management concluded that the vesting criteria would be met, and the most likely outcome for the share options
issued during the year was that the share price vesting critéria would be met within three years for 2,177,420 options
(2019: 13,333,332 options), four years for 2,177,420 options (2019: 13,333,334 options) and five years for a further
2,177,418 options (2019: 13,333,334 options) as detailed in note 20. In reaching this conclusion management
considered factors including the historical share price performance, their assessment of possible developments with
respect to licences, in particular Licence P2437 and Licence P2252 following the farm-outs to Shell.

2. SegmentalReporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources, assessing the
performance of the operating segment and making strategic decision, has been identified'as the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors consider that the Company has only one operating segment at corporate level, therefore no.
additional segmental ‘information is presented.

3. Employees

2020 2019
£ £
‘Wages and salaries 857,816 641,722
Short-term non-monetary benefits 17,944 25,380
Redundancy payments 7,855 -
Defined contribution pension costs 75,247 43,773
Social security costs 107,208 101,355
Share-based payment expense 147,734 172,495
1,213,805 984,725
2020 2019

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:
Directors 4q 4
Staff 3 3
7 7
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Key management personnel femuneration

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responslbiiity for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the: Company.

2020 2019

£ £

Salaries and bonuses 689,944 478,315
Short-term non-monetary benefits » 8,319 18,766
Consulting fees ’ - 30,000
Defined contribution pension costs 51,062 28,437
Social security costs : ' - 88,523 82,787
Share-based payment expense ) 144,751 164,663
982,600 - 802,968

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors’ Report on page 28, including the remuneration of the highest-
paid director.

Bonuses have been accrued in the current financial year but will be paid post year-end and therefore do not form
_part-of the current year directors’ remuneration figures reported earlier in this report.

Details regarding share options are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

4. Financelncome

2020 2019
£ £
Bank interest 58,951 71,008
Other interest ' 867 12
59,818 71,020
S. Finance Costs ,
2020 2019
£ £
Effective interest expense on lease liabilities (see note 16) 26,045 28,763
6. Loss beforeTax
2020 2019
£ £
The loss before tax is stated after charging/(crediting):
Amortisation of intangible assets 6,711 9,735
Impairment of intangible assets (see note 10) - 801,307
Depreciation —owned assets 18,531 4,247
Depreciation ~right of use leased assets (office lease) 87,498 106,222

Gain on farm-out. of intangible exploration asset (see note 10) - (107,871)
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7. Auditors’ Remuneration

2020 2019
£ £

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the. Company’s
financial statements 22,500 20,500
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for non-audit related services 1,995 6,073
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other audit-related services 1,500 1,230

8. IncomeTax

Analysis of income tax expense
No liability to UK corporation tax arose on ordinary activities for the year.

Factors affecting the income tax expense
The tax assessed for the year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK as explained below:

2020 2019
£ £
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation {1,665,575) {2,360,248)
Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
in the UK.(19%) (2019: 19%) (316,459} (448,447)
Effects of:
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (20,997) (429)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 219 2,375
Adjustment in relation to share based payment : 28,069 32,774
Unrelieved losses carried forward 309,168 413,727

Income tax expense - -

A deferred tax asset of £2,686,905 (2019: £2,377,737) in respect of accumulated trading losses of £14,141,605 (2019:
£12,514,406) has not been recognised due to-the uncertainty and timing of future. profits.

9. Loss perShare

The Company has issued share options over ordinary shares both of which could potentially dilute basic earnings per
share in the future. Further details are given in note 20.

Basic loss per share is calculated by»dividing the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Due to the losses incurred during the year, a diluted Iqss per share has not been calculated as this would serve to
reduce the basic loss per share. There were 94,840,450 (2019: 88,308,192) share incentives outstanding at the end of
the year that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

Basic and diluted loss per share
2020 2019

Loss per share from continuing operations {0.12)p (0.24)p
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The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares-used in the calculation of loss per share are as follows:

2020 2019
£ £
Loss used in the calculation of total basic and diluted loss per share . '(1,665,575) (2,360,248)
Number of shares » 2020 2019
. Number Number’
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share 1,405,964,855 979,603,077

10. Intangible Assets
Exploration &  Software

evaluation assets licences Total
£ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2019 1,595,015 39,257 1,634,272
Additions . 684,161 - 684,161
Farm-out of licence (362,264) - (362,264)
Deduction - licence relinquished (801,307) - {801,307)
At 31 December 2019 1,115,605 39,257 1,154,862
Additions. ] 309,685 - 309,685
At 31 December 2020 o 1,425,290 39,257 1,464,547
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 - 17,185 17,185
Charge for year - 9,735 9,735
Impairment. . ' 801,307 - 801,307
Deduction — licence relinquished (801,307) - (801,307)
At 31 December 2019 - 26,920 26,920
Charge for year ' - 6,711 6,711
At 31 December 2020 _ _ - 33,632 33,632
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2020 : 1,425,290 5,625 1,430,915
At 31 December 2019 : ) 1,115,605 12,337 1,127,942
At 1 January 2019 ~ 1,595,015 22,072 . 1,617;087

The net book value of exploration and evaluation assets at 31 December 2020 and 2019 relates solely to the Company’s
North Sea Licences:

In the prior year, following the failure of the preferred bidder on Licence P2248 (block 43/11), which contains the
Cadence Prospect) to demonstrate the necessary financial capacity to fund the forward work programme within a
timeframe that was acceptable to the OGA, the initial term of the licence expired and the Company was forced to
relinquish the licence with effect from 29 March 2019. As aconsequence, the exploration asset relating to Licence P2248
was fully impaired in 2019 and an impairment charge of £801,307 inciuded in the Income Statement for that year.

During the currentyear, the Company has been re-awarded the same 43/11 block which contains the Cadence prospect
as part of its new licence (P2567) by the OGA. The previously capitalised value, that was subsequently written off in
2019, has a commercial value to the Company and the extensive work previously carried out on the Licence will be used
to progress the licence towards drilling. However, under IFRS6 a previously derecognised asset cannot result in a
reversal of a previously recognised impairment charge. Accordingly, Licence P2567 will be recognised in the financial
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statements at the cost of acquiring the new licence and eligible exploration and evaluation wark performed subsequent
to the date the licence was acquired.

Aggregate cash proceeds arising from the farm-out of Licence P2437 to Shell during the prior year amounted to
£470,135. An amount of £362,264 was deducted from exploration and evaluation assets, being the previously
capitalised expenditure relating to that licence. The surplus of the proceeds over the carrying value amounted to
£107,871 and was recognised as a gain on disposal of the partial interest and included as other operating income in the
Income Statement for the prior year.

Additions of £309,685 (2019: £684,161) differ to the cash flows in the Statement of Cash Flows owing to a decrease in
trade and other payables of £48,987 (2019: £211,486 decrease) relating to intangible assets.

11. Property, Plantand Equipment

Leasehold Office Fixtures Computer
improvements lease and fittings equipment Total
£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2019 - - 7,854 12,999 20,853
Additions - - - 6,227 6,227
Recognition upon adoption of IFRS 16 (see note 16) - 380,498 - - 380,498
Deductions? - (240,731) - - (240,731)
At 31 December 2019 - 139,767 7,854 19,226 166,847
Additions 86,452 404,650 42,463 24,477 558,042
Disposals - (139,767) (7,655) (5,783)  {153,205)
At 31 December 2020 86,452 404,650 42,662 37,920 571,684
Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 - - 5,580 3,485 9,065
Charge for year - 106,222 927 3,320 110,469
At 31 December 2019 - 106,222 6,507 6,805 119,534
Charge for year 7,583 87,498 3,226 7,722 ‘106,029
Disposals - (139,767) (6,638) (4,016) (150,421)
At 31 December 2020 7,583 53,953 3,095 ' 10,511 75,142
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2020 78,869 350,697 39,567 27,409 496,542
At 31 December 2019 - 33,545 1,347 12,421 47,313
At 1 January 2019 - - 2,274 9,514 11,788.

The office lease category reflectsa right of use asset relating to the office premises occupied by the Company.
1The deductions from the office lease reflectsa reduction in liability upon exercise of a break clause (see note 16).
Following the execution of the break clause in the previous registered office, during the year, the Company moved to

new smaller office premises, entering into a new lease and relinquishing the previous office lease. As aresult of which
the fully depreciated right of use lease asset for the previous office has been disposed.
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12. Trade and Other Réceivables

2020 2019
£ £
Current:
Trade receivables 3,655 -
Other receivables 192 11,471
Other tax receivables’ . 6,437 20,834
Rental deposit - 53,688
Prepayments 43,602 43,584
53,887 129,577 .
Non-current: - )
Rental deposit ) 37,422 -
Total receivables 91,309 129,577

During the year, no impairments were recognised. During the year, the rental deposit was recovered less dilapidations
charges in relation to the former office rental.

The Directors consider that the carrying.amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

13. Share Capital

Allotted, issued and fully paid

Year ended December 2020 Number £
At beginning of the year Ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each 1,405,964,855 7,029,824
Issue of shares : - -
At end of the year Ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each 1,405,964,855 7,029,824
Year ended December 2019 Number £
At beginning of the year Ordinary shares of 0.5 pencé each 538,173,289 2,690,866
Issue of shares : 867,791,566 4,338,958
Atend of the year Ordinary shares of 0.5 pence each 11,405,964,855 7,029,824

On 6 June 2019, the Company announced that it had raised approximately £15 million, before expenses, through the
aggregate placing.and subscription .of 857,142,857 new ordinary shares. The shares were allotted and admitted to
trading on AIM on 1 July 2019.

On 13 February 2019, the Company announced the exercise by a previous director of the Company. of options over

10,648,709 new ordinary shares at an exercise price of 1.325 pence per share, The shares were allotted and admitted
to trading on AIM on 15 February 2019, :

14. Reserves.

Reserves Destiption and purpose

Share capital Nominal value of sharesissued.

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Share-based paymentreserve Fair value of share options issued.

Accumulated retained deficit Cumulative net losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Details of movements in each reserve are set out in the Statement of Changes in Equity on page 38.

15. Trade and Other Payables

2020 2019
£ £

Current:
Trade payables 50,197 69,348
Social security and other taxes 30,188 25,704
Other payables and accruals 73,051 77,817
153,436 172,869

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate to their fair value.

16. Lease Arrangements

Right of use assets

The Company uses leasing arrangements for its office for which a right of use asset is included in property, plant and
equipment.

When a lease begins, a liability and right of use asset are recognised based on the present value of future lease payments.

The movements in the right of use asset are presented under the office lease category in note 11.

Lease liabilities

2020 2019

£ £

Amounts payable at 1January 25,787 -
Recognition of office lease liability upon adoption of IFRS 16 - 377,568
Additions 398,301 -
Effective interest expense 26,049 28,763
Lease payments (53,684) (139,813)
Adjustment upon exercise of break clause - (240,731)
Amounts payable within one year at 31 December 92,605 25,787
Amounts payable after year at 31 December 303,848 -

Ouring the year, the Company moved to new office premises, entering Into a new lease and relinquishing the previous
office lease. As a resuit of which the fully depreciated right of use lease asset for the previous office has been disposed and

a new right of use lease asset recognised.

During the prior year, the Company exercised a lease break clause in relation to the former office lease. As a result, the
discounted lease liability was recalculated as at the date of exercising the lease break option and the lease liability was
reduced accordingly by £240,731. This was also refiected as a reduction in the right of use asset within property, plant and
equipment (see note 11).

17. Related Party Disclosures

Parties aré considered to be related if one party is und_er common control or can exercise significant influence over the
other party in making financial and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention
is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.
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Key management personnel are considered to be the Directors of the Company and Persons Discharging Managerial
Responsibility. Disclosure regarding remuneration of key management is provided in note 3.

During the year, Mark Lappin, the Company’s Non-Executive Chairman,. purchased 588, 496-ordinary. shares, in the
market, at the market price of 0.85 pence. Graham Swindells, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, purchased.
1,500,000 ordinary shares at an average market price of 0.81 pence. Sarah McLeod, the Company’s Chief Financial

Officer, purchased 579,942 at a market price of 0.86 pence.

18. Financial Instruments

Principal finandial instruments
The principal financial instruments used by the Company from which the financial risk arises are as follows:

2020 2019
£ £
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents —all amounts held in Sterling:
Cash at. bank 11,968,858 242,364
Short-term bank deposits? ' - 13,607,036
' 11,968,858 13,849,400
Rental deposit " 37,422 53,688
Trade receivables 3,655 B
Other receivables 192 11,471

12,010,127 13,914,559

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 50,197 . 69,348
Other payables & accruals . 73,051 77,817
Lease liabilities? . 396,453 25,787

519,700 172,952

1Short-term bank deposits comprise deposits that are available upon giving notice ranging from 32 to. 95 days.
2 £92,605 of the lease liability is payable within one year and £303,848 is payable greater than one year.

General 6bfectives and policies’

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce as far as practical without unduly affecting the
Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are:

Policy on financial risk management ’ '

The-Company’s principal financial instruments compriseé cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, trade and other
payables. The Company’s accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis on
which income and expenses. are recognised in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equ:ty'
instrument are set out in note 1~ “Accounting Policies”.

The Company does not use financial instruments- for speculative purposes. The carrying value of all financial assets and
liabilities approximates to their fair value.

Derivatives, financial instruments and risk- management
The Company does not use derivative instruments or ather financial instruments to manage its exposure to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices.

Foreign currency risk management

The Company has very limited transactional currency exposures as all projects currently undertaken are based in the
UK.
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Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The Company’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are monitored by the Board of Directors to ensure that the
aggregate value of transactions is spread amongst approved counterparties,

The Company applies IFRS 9 to measure expected credit losses for receivables, these are regularly monitored and
assessed. Receivables are subject to an expected credit loss provision when it is probable that amounts outstanding
are not recoverable as set out in the accounting policy. The impact of expected credit losses was immaterial.

The Company’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and othér receivables. Cash and cash
equivalents include amounts held on deposit with financial institutions, including deposits subject to notice periods of
no more than 95 days.

The'credit risk on liquid funds held in current accounts available on demand and notice account'deposits is limited
because the Company’s counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

No financial assets have indicators of impairment.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements.

Borrowings and interest rate risk
The Company curréntly has'no borrowings.

The Company’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. Cash equivalents include
amounts held on deposit with financial institutions. The effect of variable interest rates is not significant.

Liquidity risk
During the year eénded 31 December 2020, the Company was financed by cash raised through equity funding in the
prior year. Funds raised surplus to immediate requirements are held as short-term cash deposits in Sterling.

The maturities of the cash deposits are selected to maximise the investment return whilst ensuring that funds will be
available as required to maintain the.Company’s operations. -

In managing liquidity risk, the-main objective of the Company is to ensure that it has the ability to pay all of its liabilities
as they fall due. The Company monitors its levels of working capital to ensure that it can meet its liabilities as they fall
due.

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019 on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.

Within 2 Within2-  Within 6—  Within1-  Within 2
Total months 6 months 12 months 2 years 5 years
£ £ £ £ £ £
At 31 December 2020
Trade payables 50,197 50,197 - - - -
Other payables & accruals 73,051 36,629 36,422 - - -
Lease liabilities 481,338 8,946 57,761 60,490 124,740 230,000
605,185 95,772 94,183 60,490 124,740 230,000
At 31 December 2019
Trade payables 69,348 69,348 -
Other payables & accruals 77,817 - 77,817
Lease liabilities 26,409 - 26,409
173,574 69,348 104,224
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19. Capital Management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to manage the cost of capital
effectively. The Company defines capital as being share capital plus reserves. The Board of Directors monitor the level
of capital as compared to the Company’s commitments and, where necessary, adjusts the leve! of capital as is
determined to be necéssary by issuing new shares.

The Company was financed by equity in the year eénded 31 December 2020 following equity fundraising completed in
the prior year. Based on the cash and cash equivalents balance at year end and the Company’s commitments, the
‘Company has adequate financial resources to cover its budgeted exploration and development programme and meet
its other operational obligations as they fall due within the going concern period.

The Company is subject to-an externally imposed capital requirement of maintaining a minimum of £50,000 authorised
share capital, which it has met in both reporting periods presented.

20. Share-Based Payments

The Company share options are equity-share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2. This standard requires that a
recognised valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of share -options granted. The total share -
based payment charge for the year has been derived through applying the Black Scholes model.

Share options

The Company’s Share Option Plan pursuant to which options over ordinary Shares may be granted to Directors and
employees of the Company, commenced on 4 May 2012. On 31 july 2014, an Enterprise Management Incentives Plan
(EMI Pian) was adopted and options held by employees under the Share Option Plan became governed by the EM! Plan at
that date.

Any employed Director or employee of the Company is eligible to receive grants under the EMI Plan. Non-executive
Directors are not eligible to receive grants. Options are non-transferable exceptin the case of an option holder’s death, .
in which case the outstanding options may be exercised by the personal representatives of the option holder.

The maximum number of ordinary Shares in respect of which options can be granted under the EMI Plan is 20 per cent.
of the Company’s- issued ordinary share capital, including all awards made over the 10 years preceding the date of the
grant. This limit also includes any rights granted under any other employee share incentive arrangements ‘operated by
the Company but excludes rights that: (i) have lapsed, been forfeited or released; (ii) will be met by the transfer of
shares already in issue; or (iii} are granted to replace an award over shares in a Company acquired by the Company.

The Board of Directors has absolute discretion to grant options, subject to any time vesting or performance conditions
that it outiines. The grant of options will be evidenced by an option agreement.

6,532,258 options were granted during the year to 31 December 2020 under the scheme (2019: 40,000,000) and no
options expired (2013: nil).

No share options were exercised during the current year. During the prior year, a previous director exercised
10,648,709 share options at an exercise price of 1.325p per share.

The Company recognised 3 total share-based payment expense of £147,734 for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: £172,495) in respect of share options.

The inputs to the Black-Scholes model for options issued in the currentand prior year were as follows:
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Black Scholes Model 15 June 2020 15 June 2020 15 Jjune 2020
Share Price 0.675p 0.675p 0.675p
Exercise price 1.55p 1.55p 1.55p
Expected Volatility 62.22% 62.22% 62.22%
Risk Free Rate of Interest (0.0095)% (0.0095)% (0.0095)%
Expected Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected Life 6.5 years 7.0 years 7.5 years
Number of options. issued 2,177,420 2,177,420 2,177,418
Black Scholes Model 8 July 2019 8 July 2019 8 July 2019
Share Price 1.75p 1.75p 1.75p
Exercise price 1.75p 1.75p 1.75p
Expected Volatility 69.73% 69.73% 69.73%
Risk Free Rate of Interest 0.4933% 0.4933% 0.4933%
Expected Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected Life 6.5 years 7.0 years 7.5years
Number of options issued 13,333,332 13,333,334 13,333,334

Under the terms of the options granted during the year, 2,177,420 options (2019: 13,333,332 options) will vest
following the share price reaching 2.06p (2019: 2.33p) for 30 consecutive days at any time prior to expiry of the options,
10 years.-from the grant date, plus a further holding period of two years, but no earlier than three years after the grant
date.

A further 2,177,420 options {2019: 13,333,334 options) will vest following the share price reaching 2.57p (2019: 2.91p)
for 30 consecutive days at any time prior to expiry of the options, 10 years from the grant date, plus a further holding
period of two years, but no earlier than four-years after the grant date.

The remaining 2,177,418 options (2019: 13,333,334 options) will vest following the share price reaching 3.10p (2019:
3.5p) for 30 consecutive days at any time prior to expiry of the options, 10 years from the grant date, plus a further
holding period of two years, but no earlier than five years after the grant date.

The fair value includes the effect of this vesting condition. Management determined that the above options would be
most likely to vest at the earliest possible dates, being three years, four years and five years from grant date as detailed
above. The fair value of the options is therefore being amortised over those time periods.

Expected volatility. was determined based on the historic volatility of the Company.

Details of the number of share options and the weighted ‘average exercisé price (WAEP) ‘outstanding during the year
are as follows:

Year ended December 2020 Number of WAEP

options P
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 88,308,192 224
Issued 6,532,258 1.55
Outstanding at the end of the year 94,840,450 2.19
Number exercisable at 31 December 2020 22,908,192 2.54
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Year ended December 2019 Number of WAEP

options P

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 58,956,901 2.41

Exercised (10,648,709) 133

Issued ‘ _ 40,000,000 1.75

‘Outstanding at the end of the year 88,308,192 2.24
‘Number exercisable at 31 December 2019 ' 22,908,192 . 254

Th_e weighted averagé remaining contractual life of options. outsta'nding .as at 31 December- 2020 was 7.1 years '(?'019:
7.9 years). The range of exercise prices relating to options outstanding at 31 December 2020 was '1-.33p.to-8.00p (2019:
1.33p to 8.00p). ’

21. Subsequent Events

‘Other than the decision by Deltic arid Shell to make a positive well investment decision in respect of the Pensacola
Prospect on Licence P2252, there were no significant events- subsequent to 31.December “2'02‘0 :

57




DocuSign Envelope ID: EDD78B84-88A3-4615-A773-5D2F7B47AFB1

Company Information

Directors

Joint Secretary

Registered Office

Registered Number

Nominated Adviser & Joint Corporate Broker

Joint Corporate Broker

Auditors

Solidtors

financial PublicRelations

Regrstrar

Mark Lappin {Chairman)

G C Swindells (Chief Executive)
A Nunn(Chief Operating Officet)
P N Cowley (Non-Executive)

S MclLeod

Gravitas Company Secretarial Services Limited

1stFloor

150 Waterloo Road
London

SE18SB

07958581 (England and Wales)

Alienby Capital Limited
5 St Helen's Place
London

EC3A6AB

Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited
150 Cheapside

London

EC2VG6ET

BDOLLP

55 Baker Street
London
W1U7EU

K&L GatesLLP
One NewChange
London
EC4MOAF

Vigo Communications Limited
Sackville House
40 Piccadilly

"Londan

W1JOHR

Share Registrars Limited
The Courtyard

17 West Street
Farnham

Surrey

GUI 7DR

58




